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“Our vision for our company and
our future is to be a high-performing
growth company that innovates,
markets and produces quality
branded products that are #1
r #2 in their markets.”

GLENN W. NOVOTNY

PRESIDENT & CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

WILLIAM E. BROWN

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS

We are delighted to report that fiscal 2003 was an excellent
year for Central. Our focus on growing our proprietary brand-
ed products has resulted in a significantly stronger and more
profitable company, and 2003 was a record year in terms of
gross profit, income from operations and net income. Our Pet
and Garden segments achieved strong top line growth led by
branded products, which were up 8% year over year, and we
also benefited from efforts to improve overall productivity

and reduce administrative and litigation expenses.
FISCAL 2003 HIGHLIGHTS

* Our Pennington line of grass seed enjoyed double-digit
sales growth fueled by innovative new products and

consumer offerings.

* Our AMDRO fire ant products produced strong
results including the launch of our new AMDRO Yard

Treatment line.

» Wellmark enjoyed strong sales growth, especially with
our Altosid and Pre-Strike mosquito products to help
prevent the spread of West Nile Virus.

¢ The Eliminator private label garden chemical line for
Wal*Mart experienced excellent sales growth and

competed very favorably against leading national brands.

¢ Our capital expansion at Kaytee was on time and on budget.

* And, we completely refinanced our debt structure through
two very successful debt offerings giving us a strong

foundation for future growth.

As we reported to you last year, in fiscal 2002 we successfully
completed our strategic transformation from a distributor to
a consumer products company. In 2003, we continued to
improve our operating performance and strengthened our
balance sheet, and now have a strong foundation on which

to build through organic development and acquisitions.

Looking to 2004 and beyond, we have our sights set on
growing this Company's sales and profits significantly over
the next several years through organic growth and strategic
acquisitions. We believe we can fulfill this vision while
improving our return on equity and return on invested
capital. We believe we are well positioned to capitalize on our
leadership in both the pet and lawn and garden supplies
industries to accelerate our growth and will continue to
execute against our five key strategies: growing and extending
our brands in Garden and Pet; developing and launching
new innovative products; leveraging our cost structure;

positioning our Company to support controlled growth;
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Kaytee is one of the largest
marketers and producers of food
and treats for pet birds, wild
birds and small animals. Kaytee
specializes in the premium end of
the market, offering innovative

products and upscale packaging.

All-Glass Aquarium is the largest

producer of aquariums, terrariums

and related lighting systems and
furniture in the U.S. These

products are sold under the

All-Glass Aquarium, Oceanic and

Island Aquarium brand names.

Wellmark is a leading producer
of flea, tick, mosquito and other
insect control products for both
professional and consumer use.
These products are sold
primarily under the Zodiac,

Altosid, Extinguish and

TFH is a leading marketer and

producer of premium dog chews,
edible bones, carriers and other
pet products. These products are
primarily sold under the Nylabone,
Dental Chew, Healthy Edibles
and TFH brand names.

Pre-Strike brand names.

and pursuing and completing strategic acquisitions in

our industries.
FINANCIAL RESULTS

Net sales for fiscal 2003 were $1.15 billion, a 6% increase
from $1.08 billion in fiscal 2002. This was the result of a
$65 million, or 8%, increase in our branded product sales,
all organic, to $863 million and a modest increase in sales
of other manufacturers’ products. Net income for the year
increased 21% to $34.6 million, or $1.73 per diluted share.

We made significant strides in improving our financial
strength in 2003. In January, we refinanced our convertible
debt that was maturing in November 2003 with $150 million
of 10-year 9-1/8% Senior Subordinated Notes. And in May,
we closed a new $200 million senior secured credit facility
which replaced our $175 million asset-based revolving credit
facility. As a result of our recapitalization program, we now
have a solid capital structure in place to invest in growth

opportunities and potential acquisitions.
PET PRODUCTS

Our Pet Products segment continued to concentrate on
growing sales of consumer and professional branded
products. For fiscal 2003, sales were $502 million or 6.5%

above last year. This increase was attributable to a 7.3%
increase in sales of our brands and a 4.1% increase in sales
of other manufacturers’ products. Operating income for
the vear was $52.7 million, up 21.4% over last year. This
increase was attributable to increased sales of branded
products, especially those with higher margins, new prod-
uct introductions, productivity improvements, and cost
reductions. Pet Products continues to focus on delivering
high quality, innovative products to the pet industry. in
fiscal 2003, 16% of Pet Products sales were derived from
our own branded products introduced in the last two years,
and we have earned 25 industry awards since 2000.

We continue to position our Pet Products brands as the

innovation leaders in their categories.

All of our Pet Products brands contributed to the strong
top line and excellent bottom line growth for the year.
Wellmark experienced another excellent year due to robust
sales of our new Pre-Strike line of consumer mosquito
control products and our Altosid line of mosquito control
products for professional and public health applications.
Wellmark also enjoyed another strong year of sales to
Merial'’s Frontline Plus product line sold to veterinarians,
which incorporates Wellmark's active ingredients, and

continued growing international sales of insect control




Central Garden & Pet is a leading innovator, marketer and producer of

quality branded products for use in the consumer and professional

pet and lawn and garden supplies markets.
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TFH is also a leading producer Four Paws is a leading marketer
of pet books about almost every
type of pet animal. In 2003, TFH

was recognized by Pet Business,

and producer of dog, cat, reptile
and small animal products in
the U.S. These products include
Magic Coat shampoos,
Wee-Wee Pads and Rough &
Rugged hard rubber toys.

a leading industry publication,
as providing the leading pet

book program in the industry.

Pennington is recognized as

AmBrands manufactures AMDRO

the domestic leader in the grass Fire Ant Bait and Yard Treatment,

seed industry and is the largest
producer of wild bird feed in

the U.S. Pennington also

a leading fire ant bait in the
U.S., as well as IMAGE Consumer
Concentrate, a selective herbicide

for the control of difficult

weeds in Southern turf.

manufactures lawn and garden
chemicals, fertilizers, soils and

related products.

products, especially to Australia and New Zealand. Our
TFH and Nylabone brands also experienced sales growth
this year attributable to expansion of the plastic chew line,
the Big Chew line, and the award-winning Chew & Brush
line. In fiscal 2003, TFH executed a new book business
model, which included outsourcing printing and binding
operations, turning this business into a winner with higher
quality, lower costs and more profits. Kaytee, the leader of
innovation in the bird and small animal nutrition and treat
markets, continued to record strong sales throughout the
year and introduced several major new innovative product
lines, including Soft Sorbent, a revolutionary new concept
in paper bedding for small animals, and our new "Treatster”
line of small animal and bird treat bars, a totally new pet
product concept similar to energy or granola bars. At the
end of fiscal 2003, Kaytee completed the first phase of our
new manufacturing facility in Chilton, Wisconsin, which is
now fully operational. All-Glass and Oceanic turned in a
strong year in sales, as new and innovative products continue
to be the strength of our aquarium businesses. Among new
products offered for sale in 2003 were the All-Glass Geneva
line of contemporary aquarium furniture, recognized as the
Best New Aquarium Product at the 2003 APPMA show, and

the Oceanic Contrast Collection, awarded the Best New

Aquarium Product by Pet Business Magazine. Four Paws also
had a good year introducing a line of sleeper pads for dog
crates and a line of stain and odor removers while expanding
sales growth in the grocery and mass channel under the Pet

Select Brand name.
GARDEN PRODUCTS

Our Garden Products segment continued to focus on grow-
ing sales of our own branded products as well as improving
profitability. Fiscal 2003 sales were $643.3 million or 6%
above last year, due primarily to a $39.4 million or 8.9%
increase in sales of branded products, more than offsetting
a $2.7 million reduction in sales of third-party products.
Operating income for fiscal 2003 was $39.3 million, an
increase of $2 million over last year. The improvements in
operating income occurred in spite of significantly higher
than normal grain prices which reduced wild bird food

margins on our Pennington line throughout the year.

Pennington continues to be the category leader in innova-
tion and quality. Our new 2003 product introductions
under MasterTurf, Tournament Quality, and Pennington
Select brands all performed well this year. Sales from our
recently launched innovative Seed/Sod program, selling the

same variety of seed to sod growers and consumers, enjoyed



We are a leader in two markets that have proven to be

recession resistant and are forecasted to show continued stong growth.

pottery products

Norcal Pottery is a leading Grant Labs manufactures ant

designer, importer and marketer control products, animal repellants
of decorative indoor and outdoor and garden aid products. Grant's
pottery products in the U.S., ant control product line consists
offering a diverse selection of of ant baits, aerosol and granules,
products in terra cotta, stoneware, and dust and concentrated liquids

ceramic and porcelain. for carpenter ants and termites.

Lilly Miller is a leading marketer
of weed and moss control
products, lawn and garden
fertilizers, baits and specialty
control products. These products
are sold under the Lilly Miller,
Alaska Fish Fertilizer, Worry

Free and Cooke brand names.

Matthews Four Seasons
manufactures one of the broadest
mixes of wooden garden products

for the home and garden

industry, including a complete
line of planters, benches, barrel

fountains, arbors, and trellises.

a successful launch and are well positioned for future sales
to both professional and consumer channels. Pennington’s
garden chemical operations experienced exceptional
results for the year, led by strong Eliminator private label
sales to Wal*Mart. AMDRO, the leading fire ant bait brand,
delivered strong top-line growth, driven by sales of its new
AMDRO Yard Treatment product. Sales of our Grant's ant
control products also remained strong for the year. Lilly
Miller brands finished the year with a very healthy year-
over-year increase in sales, driven principally by new
product introductions and the expanded listings and
success of our Alaska Fish line of fertilizer products.
Norcal Pottery products sales were up for the year and
have secured expanded listings for 2004. We are also
pleased to report improved performance of our Garden
Products sales and logistics operations in 2003 following
three years of monumental transformation. This operation,
which supports our garden brands, increased its sales

of Central’s branded products by 5%. We believe sales and
logistics provides a strategic advantage over our competi-
tors and offers economies of scale and convenience for

our customers.

In closing, we would like to thank all of our employees,

customers, suppliers and investors for their support

and faith, particularly over the last few years. With this

continued support, we are confident we can take Central

to much higher levels in the years ahead. Thank you.

Sincerely,

Bl W g e

Glenn W. Novotny

President & Chief Exective Officer

William E. Brown
Chairman of the Board
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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
~ Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

[X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 or 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended September 27, 2003
Commission File Number 0-20242

CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 68-0275553
(State or other jurisdiction of . (IRS Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification Number)

3697 Mt. Diablo Boulevard, Lafayette, California 94549
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Telephone Number: (925) 283-4573

SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(b) OF THE ACT:

Name of Each Exchange

Title of Each Class on Which Registered
None None

SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(g) OF THE ACT:

Common Stock
(Title of Class)

~ Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90
days. Yes [Xl. No []. _

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.405
of this chapter) is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in
definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any
amendment to this Form 10-K. []

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Exchange Act Rule
12b-2). Yes [X. No [l

At March 29, 2003, the aggregate market value of the registrant’s Common Stock and Class B Stock held by
non-affiliates of the registrant was approximately $354,478,000 and $1,156,000, respectively.

" At December 1, 2003, the number of shares outstanding of the registrant’s Common Stock was 18,268,968,
In addition, on such date the registrant had outstanding 1,654,462 shares of its Class B Stock, which are
convertible into Common Stock on a share-for-share basis. :
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Definitive Proxy Statement for the Company’s 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders - Part III of this
Form 10-K.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K includes “forward-looking statements.” Forward-looking statements include statements
concerning our plans, objectives, goals, strategies, future events, future révenues or performance, capital
expenditures, financing needs, plans or intentions relating to acquisitions, our competitive strengths and
weaknesses, our business strategy and the trends we anticipate in the industry and economies in which we
operate and other information that is not historical information. When used in this Form 10-K, the words
“estimates,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “projects,” “plans,” “intends,” “believes” and variations of such words or
similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements,
including, without limitation, our examination of historical operating trends, are based upon our current
expectations and various assumptions. Our expectations, beliefs and projections are expressed in good faith, and
we believe there is a reasonable basis for them, but we cannot assure you that our expectations, behefs and
projections will be realized. : .

LIS LETS 3% 6

There are a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the
forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-K. Important factors that could cause our actual results to
differ materially from the forward- lookmg statements we make in this Form 10-K are set forth in this Form 10-K,
including the factors described in the section entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Risk Factors.” If any. of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if any
of our underlying assumptions are incorrect, our actual results may differ significantly from the results that we
express in or imply by any of our forward-looking statements. We do not undertake any obligation to revise these
forward-looking statements to reflect future events or circumstances. Presently known risk factors include, but
are not limited to, the following factors:

* consolidation trends in the retail industry;

+ dependence on a few customers for a significant portion of each of our businesses;
* uncertainty of our product innovations and marketing successes;

» fluctuations in market prices for seeds and grains;

* competition in our industries;

* . risks associated with our acquisition strategy;

¢ adverse weather during the peak gardening season;. .-

* seasonality and fluctuations in our operating results and cash flow;

* dependence upon our key executive officers;

¢ potential environmental liabilities and product liability claims; and

* pending litigation.




MARKET, RANKING AND OTHER DATA

The data included in this Form 10-K regarding markets and ranking, including the size of certain markets

and our position and the position of our competitors and products within these markets, are based on independent

- industry publications, including the National Gardening Survey 2002, an independent survey conducted by Harris
Interactive for the National Gardening Association, the 2003-2004 National Pet Owners Survey, published by the
American Pet Products Manufacturers Association, Packaged Facts Market Profile: The U.S. Pet Supplies
Market, June 2003, and The U.S. Lawn and Garden Market, March 2003, each published by Packaged Facts, a
consumer market research company, Nursery Retailer Magazine, or other published industry sources or our
estimates based on management’s knowledge and experience in the markets in which we operate. Our estimates
have been based on information provided by customers, suppliers, trade and business organizations and other
contacts in the markets in which we operate. We believe these estimates to be accurate as of the date of this Form
10-K. However, this information may prove to be inaccurate because of the method by which we obtained some
of the data for our estimates or because this information cannot always be verified with complete certainty due to
the limits on the availability and reliability of raw data, the voluntary nature of the data gathering process and
other limitations and uncertainties inherent in a survey of market size. As a result, you should be aware that
market, ranking and other similar data included in this Form 10-K, and estimates and beliefs based on that data,
may not be reliable.
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Item 1. Busin-ess_, C

BUSINESS

Our Company

Central Garden & Pet Company is-a leading innovator, marketer and producer of quality branded products
for the pet and lawn and garden supplies markets. We.are one of the largest companies in the fragmented, $7.5
billion U.S. pet supplies industry and in the $51.9 billion U. S. lawn and garden supphes mdustry Our pet
products include pet bird, small animal and wild bird food, aquarium products,, ﬂea tick, mosquito and other
insect control products, edible bones, cages, carriers, pet books, and other dog, cat, reptile and small animal
products. These products are sold under a number of brand names, including Kaytee, All-Glass Aquarium,
Oceanic, Zodiac, Pre-Strike, Altosid, Nylabone, TFH and Four Paws. Our lawn and garden products include
grass seed, wild bird food, weed and insect control products, decorative outdoor patio products.and ant control
products. These products are sold under a number of brand names, including Pennington, Norcal Pottery, Lilly
Miller, Matthews Four Seasons, AMDRO and Grant’s. In fiscal 2003, our ¢onsolidated net sales were
$1.15 billion, of which our pet products segment, or Pet Products, accounted for $501.7 million and our lawn
and garden products segment, or Garden Products, accounted for $643.3 million. In fiscal 2003, our income from
operations was $72.3 million, of which Pet Products accounted for $52.7 million and Garden Products accounted
for $39.3 million, before corporate expenses and eliminations of $19.7 million. -

Recent Developfnenfs

Debt Reﬁnancmg and Interest Rate Swap Inl anuary 2003 we 1ssued $150,000, 000 aggregate principal
amount of 9 8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013. The net proceeds of the offering were used.to redeem our
outstanding 6% convertible notes due November 2003 and reduce a portion of the outstanding indebtedness
under our then, outstanding senior credit facilities. Subsequent to-year end, we entered into a $75 million pay-
floating interest rate swap effectively converting 50% of these notes to a floating rate of LIBOR + 4.04%. The
interest rate swap 1ncorporates by reference all covenants, terms and provisions of our senior secured credit
facility. S S

New Credit Facility. In May 2003, we closed a new $200 million senior secured credit facility. The new
credit facility consists of a five-year $100 million revolving-credit facility and a six-year $100 million term loan.
The new fac1hty replaced our $175 million asset-based revolving credit facility. The net proceeds from the new
facility were used to retire outstandmg debt under our old asset-based revolving credit facility and other existing
debt. The remaining proceeds and future borrowing capacity will provide capital for general corporate purposes
and acquisitions-and investments. In October 2003, we reduced the pricing on the term loan portion of our credit
facility by 0.50% from LIBOR +2. 75% to’ LIBOR +2. 25%

Business Background

During the past several years, we have transmoned our company toa leadmg marketer and producer of
branded products from a traditional pet and lawn and garden supplies distributor. We initiated this transition
because we recognized the opportunity to build a portfolio of leading brands and improve profitability by
capitalizing on our knoWIedge of the pet and lawn and garden supplies sectors, our strong relationships with
retailers, and our nationwide sales and logistics network. Our goal was to diversify our business and improve
operating margins by establishing a portfolio of leading brands. Since 1997, we have acquired numerous branded
products companies and product lines, including Wellmark and Four Paws in fiscal 1997; Kaytee Products, TFH
and Pennington Seed in fiscal 1998; Norcal Pottery in fiscal 1999; AMDRO and All-Glass Aquanum in fiscal
2000; Lilly Miller in fiscal 2001; and Alaska Fish Fertilizer in fiscal 2002.
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While expanding our branded products business, we experienced adverse events in our distribution business.
From 1995 to 1999, we were the master distributor of Round Up and Ortho. In January 1999, The Scotts
Company, one of our largest distribution suppliers at the time, acquired Ortho and became the marketing agent
for Round Up. In July 2000, Scotts terminated its relationship with us. Subsequently, we downsized our
distribution operations and integrated these sales and logistics networks into our pet and lawn and garden
products businesses to allow us to focus resources and provide strategic sales support for our brands.

_ Virtually all of our sales before fiscal 1997 were from distributing other manufacturers’ products. Since
then, our branded product sales have grown to approximately $863 million, or approximately 75% of total sales,
in fiscal 2003. During this same period, our sales of other manufacturers’ products have declined to
approximately $282 million, or approximately 25% of total sales, and our gross profit margins have 1mproved
from 13.6% in fiscal 1996 to 29 1% in fiscal 2003 :

Competitive Strengths

We believe we have the followmg competltrve strengths whrch serve as ‘the foundatlon of our business
strategy:

*  Market Leadership Positions Built on Strong Brand Portfolio. We are the leader in the premium
branded U.S. pet supplies market and one of the leaders in the U.S. consumer lawn and garden supplies
market. We have a diversified portfolio of brands, most of which we believe are among the leading
brands in their respective U.S. market categories. The majority of our brands have been marketed and
sold for more than 20 years and have developed strong brand name recognition, which creates wide
appeal, leads to repeat purchases and provides our retail customers with strong sell-through. We

- constantly seek to enhance our brand strength and awareness through high quality products, premium
packagmg, product 1nnovat10n advertlsmg and consumer and retailer educatron

* Strong Relationships with Retailers.. We have developed strong relationships wrth major and
" independent retailers through product innovation, premium brand names, broad product offerings,

captive sales and logistics capabilities and a high level of customer service. Major retailers value the
efficiency of dealing with a limited number of suppliers with national scope and strong brands. These -
strengths have made us one of the largest pet supplies vendors to Wal*Mart, PETSMART and PETCO
and among the largest lawn and garden supplies vendors to Wal*Mart, Home Depot and Lowe’s. In
addition, we are the bird and small animal, and flea and tick control “category managers” at
PETsMART and the wild bird feed, grass seed and pottery “category advisor” at Wal*Mart. In 2003, we
won the “Strategic Vendor of the Year” award from PETCO, and Kaytee won the “Vendor of the Year”
award from Ace Hardware. Also in.2003, Pennington was selected by Wal*Mart as the “lawn and
garden supplier of the quarter” for the third quarter of 2002; by Lowe’s as “nursery supplier of the year
for 2002,” and by Sam’s Club as “co-managed supplier of the quarter” for the fourth quarter of 2002.
We believe our ability to service the rapid growth of large retailers, to meet their unique needs for
packaging and point of sale displays, and to offer new innovative products, provide us with a
competitive advantage. Independent retailers value our high level of customer service and broad array of
high margin, premium branded products, and we believe we are the largest supplier to independent pet
supplies retailers in the United States. Recently, our pet sales and logistics business was voted
“Distributor of the Year” by Pet Busmess a leadmg mdustry pubhcatlon

* Innovative New Products. We have developed a reputanon for introducing mnovatwe and hrgh quality
products. We continuously seek to introduce new products at a reasonable cost, both as complementary
extensions of existing product lines and as new product categories. We have received numerous awards

. for our new pet products, including several in the American Pet Products Manufacturing Association’s
“‘Best New Product Award” category. In the aquarium category, we have received awards for our Mini-
Bow 5 agquariums and the Geneva line of upscale aquarium furniture. In the dog and cat category, we
have received awards for our Nylabone Chew & Brush Edible Bone and our Big Chews for Big Dogs
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' point-of—purchase display. Kaytee has also been recognized for its Satori Koi and goldfish foods in the
" pond category and for their Yogurt Dips in the bird area. In addition, in 2003 we received “Best New
“Product” awards from Pet Business for our Oceanic Contrast series of prenuum aquatic furniture and
cabmetry and for our Kaytee Exact prerruum bird food

vf‘Favorable Industry Characterzsncs The pet and lawn and garden supplies- markets have grown even
[during recent periods of economic and political uncertainty, and are expected to continue to.grow, due
.., to favorable demographic and leisure trends . According to Packaged Facts, retail sales of pet supplies

. are expected to grow 8.2% annually from $7 5 billion in 2002 to $11.1 billion by 2007. The key

demographrcs bolstermg our markets are the growth rates in the number of children under 18 and the
number of adults over age 55. In particular, the 55-64 age group is projected to grow at a compounded
* annual growth raté of approximately 4% through 2010. Households with children tend to own more

pets, and adults over 55 are more likely to be “eripty nesters” who keep pets as companions, and have
more d1sposable incomeé and leisure time available for both-péts and garden dctivities. In addition, we
believé economic and political uncertamty tend to increase the proportron of at-home leisure activity
compared t6 travel. Many of our products, such as dog bones; groomrng supplres and pest control, are
routmely consumed and replemshed

~ Sales and Logtstzcs Networks We are a leadrng suppher to 1ndependent spec1alty retail customers for

. the pet and lawn and garden supphes markets through our sales and logistics networks. We.believe our
sales and logrstlcs networks give us a slgnlﬁcant competitive advantage over other supphers that do not
have this capability. These networks provide us with key access to independent pet specialty retail stores

' 'and retaﬂ lawn and garden customers for our branded products, facilitating:

acqulsmon and marntenance of prermum shelf placement ~
+ ' prompt product replenishment;
. custonuzatron of retarler programs; ‘
» _quick responses to changmg customer and retarler preferences
. rap1d deployment and feedback for new products ‘and

-+ immediate exposure for acqurred brands.

AR We plan to contmue to ut1hze our team of dedrcated sales people and our sales and logistics networks to

Business Strategy

expand sales of our branded products

Experienced and Incentzvzzed Management Team. Our senior management team has significant

experience in the pet and lawn and garden supplies industries. William E. Brown, our Chairman,

acquired our predecessor 23 years ago, and Glenn W. Novotny has been our Chief Executive Officer

since June 2003 and our President since 1990. Mr. Novotny was previously with Weyerhaeuser '

Corporation in a variety of management positions for 20 years. Our executive officers also collectively

own, individually or in partnershlp wrth members of therr farmhes approximately 15% of our common
. shares.

Our objective is to increase market share, revenue, cash flow and profitability by enhancing our position as

one of the leading companies in the U.S. pet supplies industry and the lawn and garden industry. To achieve our
objective, we plan to capitalize on our strengths and the favorable industry trends by implementing the following
key elements of our business strategy:

Promote Existing Brands. With our broad product dssortment, strong'brand names, strong sell-through
-and ifinovativé products and packaging, we believe we can further strengthen our relationships with -
Jexisting retailers to incréase shelf space and'sales. Many retailers aré continuing to consolidate their
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vendor base to focus on a smaller number of large suppliers such as.us, particularly in the fragmented
pet supplies industry. We believe that the expansion plans of our major customers provide us with a
solid foundation for continued growth. We intend to gain market share in the mass market, grocery and
specialty pet store channels and add new retailers through our recent addition of marketing and sales
personnel dedicated to these channels, as well as our innovative product introductions and packaging.
We will continue to focus on using our sales and logistics network to emphasize sales of our higher
margin, proprietary brands and to use efficient supply chain capabilities that enable us to provide
rétailers with high service levels and consistent in-stock positions. In addition, we intend to leverage our
existing brands to expand opportunistically into international markets wrth ex1st1ng retallers such as
‘Wal*Mart, and add sales personnel or agents in selected countnes

»  Continue New Product and Packagmg Innovation. We will continue te leverage the strength of our
leading brand names by introducing innovative new products and packaging, extending existing product
lines and entering new.product categories. Our new product strategy seeks to capitalize on our strong
brand names, established customer relationships and history of product innovation. Some of the
products we have recently introduced include the Mini-Bow 5 and Mini-Bow 2.5 aquariums, the All-
Glass Geneva and the Oceanic Contrast Collection lines of upscale aquarium furniture, the Nylabone
Chew & Brush Edible Bone, the Eliminator Pump & Spray private label garden chemical line for
Wal*Mart, AMDRO Broadcast yard treatment, and the Pre-Strike line of mosquito control products. We
have also made investments in our corporate sales and marketing 1nfrastructure in the areas of product

 development, category management and key account sales support. .

*  Continue to Improve Margms. We believe there is an opportunity to continue to improve our gross and
operating margins through increased sales of our higher margin branded products, cost reductions,
product innovation and leveraging of our existing infrastructure. We consolidated our sales and logistics
centers and made capital improvements to some of our manufacturing facilities to reduce costs and
impreve manufacturing efficiencies. .

»  Pursue Strategic Acquisitions of Branded Companies. We plan to continue to make selected strategic
acquisitions of consumer product companies that complement our existing brands and product offerings.
Management has substantial experience in acquiring branded products companies. By leveraging our
marketing, manufacturing and sales and logistics capabilities, we believe we can increase the sales and
improve the operating efficiencies of acquired companies. We look for companies with the potential to
have the top one or two brands in their categories. The characteristics we seek when evaluating target
companies are strong brand names, high quality and innovative product offerings, an experienced
management team and a history of organic earnings growth. We would expect to finance our
acquisitions through a combination of operating cash flows, debt and equity.

Pet Prbd'ucts Business
Overview -

We are the leading marketer and producer of premium branded pet supplies in the United States. We believe
that most of our brands are the number one or two brands in their respective U.S. market categories. In addition,
Pet Products operates the largest sales and logistics network in the industry, which strategically supports its
brands. In fiscal 2003, Pet Products accounted for $501.7 million of our consolidated net sales and income from
operations of $52.7 million before corporate expenses and eliminations.

Industry Background

According to the 2003-2004 APPMA National Pet Owners Survey, pets have become increasingly popﬁlar '
in the United States, with an estimated 62% of U.S. households owning one pet and 46% owning two or more
pets in 2002, The pet industry includes pets, food and supplies, and we operate primarily in the higher margin pet
supplies segment of the indusiry. This segment includes products such as dog and cat toys, collars, leashes,
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cages, habitats, books, vitamins, supplements, shampoos, flea and tick control, aquariums and aquatic supplies.
According to Packaged Facts, retail sales of pet supplies were approximately $7.5 billion in 2002, up 18% from
1998, and are expected to grow 8.2% annually to $11.1 billion by 2007.

We believe this growth is due in significant part to favorable demographic and leisure trends, which we
expect to continue. The key demographics bolstering the U.S. pet supplies market are the growth rates in the
number of children under 18 and the number of adults over age 55. According to U.S. census data, the 55-64 age
group is expected to grow at a compounded annual growth rate of approximately 4% through 2010. Households
with children tend to own more pets, and adults over 55 are more likely to be “empty nesters” who keep pets as
companions, and have more disposable income and leisure time available for pets. In addition, we believe
economic and political uncertainty tend to increase the proportion of at-home leisure activity compared to travel,

and many pet supplies products (e.g. dog bones, grooming supplies, pest control, etc.) are routinely consumed
and replenished. '

The U.S. pet supplies market is highly fragmented with over 2,000 manufacturers, consisting primarily of
small companies with a limited product line. Virtually all of these manufacturers do not have a captive sales and
logistics network and must rely on us or other independent distributors to supply their products to regional pet
specialty chains and independent retailers.

The pet food and supplies industry retail channel also remains fragmented, with over 15,000 independent pet
- supply stores in the United States and only two national specialty retailers, PETSMART and PETCO. These two
“pet superstores” have been growing rapidly, and pet products have also become a growing category in mass
merchandisers, discounters and grocery outlets. PETsMART and PETCO typically offer the broadest product
selection with competitive prices and a growing array of pet services. Mass merchandisers, supermarkets and
discounters have historically carried a limited product assortment that primarily features pet food. We believe
these retailers are devoting more shelf space to meet increased consumer demand for premium pet supplies.
Independent pet stores typically have a relatively broad product selection and attempt to differentiate themselves
by offering premier brands and knowledgeable service.

Proprietary Branded Pet Products

Our principal pet supplies product lines include the Kaytee line of bird and small animal food, the All-Glass,
Oceanic Systems and Island Aquarium line of aquariums, the Wellmark line of flea, tick and mosquito products
and professional insect control products, the TFH line of Nylabone premium dog chews, pet carriers and pet
books, and the Four Paws’ line of dog, cat, small animal and reptile products. Pet Products has a hlstory of
product and packaging innovation and has earned 25 industry awards since 2000.

Kayree. Kaytee is one of the largest marketers and producers of food for pet birds, wild birds and small
animals (e.g. rabbits and hamsters). Kaytee manufactures products primarily under the Kaytee brand name and
has a strong history of developing innovative new products, such as the Exact line of pet bird and small animal
food. In 2003, Kaytee received the “Vendor of the Year” award from Ace Hardware and also earned “Best New
Product” award from Pet Business for its Exact premium bird food. Over the past four years, Kaytee has won 14
industry awards. Kaytee was founded in 1892.

All-Glass Aquariums. We are the largest producer of aquariums, terrariums and related lighting systems and
furniture in the United States. We sell these products under the All-Glass Aquarium, Oceanic and Island
Aquarium brand names. All-Glass Aquarium has been a leader in marketing and popularizing innovative new
aquarium products such as bow front technology, mini-bow and upscale aquarium furniture. In 2003, Oceanic
was recognized by Pet Product News, a leading industry publication, for their bow front and stainless steel
aquarium combination. All-Glass Aquarium has won ten industry awards in the past four years, more than any
other aquarium company. All-Glass Aquarium was founded in 1967.
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Wellmark. Wellmark is a leading marketer and producer of flea, tick, mosquito and other insect control
products for both professional end users and consumers. These products are sold primarily under the Zodiac,
Altosid, Extinguish and Pre-Strike brand names. Wellmark is the only domestic producer of (S)-Methoprene,
which is an active ingredient to control mosquitoes, fleas, ticks, ants and mites in many professional and
consumer insect control applications. We also sell (S)-Methoprene to manufacturers of other flea and tick control
products, mcludmg Frontline Plus. In 2002, Wellmark launched Pre-Strike, a mosquito control product for .
consumers which kills mosquitoes before they hatch, including those which may transmit the deadly West Nile
virus. In 2003, our Pre- Strike line gained prominent placement in major retailers across the country. Wellmark
frequently adapts professmnal products for consumer applications. Wellmark was founded in 1985.

TFH. TFH is 2 leadinig marketer and producer of premium dog chews, edible bones, caniers and other pet
produc'ts. TFH produces these products primarily under the Nylabone, Dental Chew, Healthy Edibles and TFH
brand names and has a strong history of developing innovative new products, such as the Nylabone Fold-Away
Pet Carrier, Chew & Brush Edible Bone and numerous dog toys. Most recently, TFH won industry packaging
awards for “The Big Chew” line of products and its “Big Chews for Big Dogs Bones” point of purchase display.
In addition, TFH is a leading producer of pet books. In 2003, Pet Business recognized TFH as providing the
leading pet book program in the 1ndustry Over the past four years TFH has won 17 industry awards. TFH was
founded in 1952.

Four Paws. Four Paws is a leading marketer of dog, cat, reptile and small animal products in the United
States. Four Paws products include Magic Coat shampoos, Wee-Wee Pads, Rough & Rugged hard rubber toys, a
complete line of grooming supplies for dogs and cats, animal cages, leashes, collars and accessories. These
products are sold under the Four Paws and Pet Select brand names. Four Paws was founded in 1970.

Sales and Logistics Network

Our sales and loglstlcs network, consisting of eight facilities, ex1sts primarily to promote our proprietary
brands and provides us with key access to over 15,000 independent specialty retail stores for our branded
products. This includes acquisition and maintenance of premium shelf placement, prompt product replemshment
customization of retailer programs, quick responses to changing customer and retailer preferences, rapid
deployment and feedback for new products and immediate exposure for acquired brands. The network also sells
many other manufacturers’ brands of pet supplies and combines these products with our branded products into
single shipments enabling our 1ndependent customers to deal w1th us on a cost effecuve bas1s to meet their pet
supphes requuements :

Sales and Marketmg '

Our sales strategy is mulu tiered and des1gned to capture maximum n market share with retailers. Our
customers include retailers, such as regional and national specialty pet stores, independent pet retailers, mass
merchants and grocery stores, and professionals, such as insect control manufacturers and veterinarians.
PETsMART accounted for approximately 10% of Pet Products’ net sales in fiscal years 2003 and 2002. PETCO
isalsoa 31gmﬁcant customer; however, no other single customer accounted for more than 10% of Pet Products’
sales in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 200]

To maximize our product placement and visibility in retail stores, we market our products through the '
following complementary strategies: '

* each of our brands has a dedicated sales force that focuses on their specific products across all trade
channels; ’ ' . '

» our sales and logistics network, which includes sales and marketing personnel, focuses on gaining
‘product and program placement at thousands of independent retailers;

. dedlcated account- managers and sales teams for several of our largest customers; and

. mdependent dlstnbutors who sell our brands.




Our marketing strategy is brand, trade channel and customer specific. Our focus is on innovation, premium
packaging,-product positioning and leveraging our-high quality brand names with line extensions. To execute this
strategy, we partner close]y with our customers to identify their needs, jointly develop-strategies to-meet those¢ -~
needs and dehver programs that include newspaper radro trade Journals and drrect consumer malhngs

Maﬁufactui'ing - ‘ K AP -

Pet Products currently manufactures the majority of its branded products in 12 manufacturing facilities. In
addition, certain of our proprietary branded products are manufactured by contract manufacturers: We have -
entered.into an exclusive arrangement with a third party to manufacture (S)-Methoprene, the active ingredient in
our flea and tick products. We have not experienced supply -interruptions from this manufacturer in the past, and
we maintain an inventory of (S)-Methoprene that we believe is sufficient to. sustain-our‘own productlon if
substitute manufacturing capability for (S) Methoprene should become necessary.

‘Purchasing

Pet Products purchases most of its raw materials from a number of different suppliers. In addition, we
purchase one of the raw. materials used to manufacture (S)-Methoprene.from a single source of supply. Pet °
Produets maintains an inventory of this raw material. (in addition to our {S)-Methoprene inventory) to reduce the
possibility of any interruption in the availability of (S)-Methoprene,.but a prolonged delay-in obtaining
(S)-Methoprene or this raw material could result in a temporary delay in product shlpments and have an adverse
effect on Pet Products’ financial results.

-The principal raw materials required for Kaytee’s bird food manufacturing operations are bulk commodity
grains, including millet, milo, wheat and sunflower seeds, which are generally purchased from large national.
commodity companies -and local grain cooperatives. In order to ensure an adequate supply of seed to satisfy
expected production volume; Kaytee enters into contracts up to two years in advance to purchase grain and:seed
at future dates by ﬁxmg the quantrty, and often the prlce at the commrtment date. . oo

Competmon

t . S

The pet supphes mdustry is hlghly competitive. Our branded pet products compete agamst nat1ona1 and
regional branded products and private label products produced by various suppliers. Our largest competitor is
Hartz. Pet Products competes primarily on the basis of brand recognition, innovation, upscale packaging, quality
and service. Pet Products’ sales and logistics operations compete with a number of smaller local and regional
distributors, with competition based on product selection, price, service and personal relationships. .

Garden Products Business "
Overview

We are a leading company in the consumer lawn and garden market in the United States and offer both
premium and value-oriented branded products. We market and produce a broad array -of premium brands,
including Pennington, AMDRO, Norcal Pottery, Lilly Miller, Matthews Four Seasons and Grant’s. We also
market and produce value brands that offer products comparable in quahty to premium brands at lower prices,
mcludmg Wal*Mart’s private label brand. In-addition, Garden Products operates a sales and logistics network
that strategically supports its brands In fiscal 2003, Garden Products accounted for $643.3 million of our
consohdated net sales and 1ncome from operat1ons of $39.3 mllhon before corporate expenses and eliminations. .

Industry Background

We believe that gardening is one of the most popular leisure activities in the United States, with
approximately 80% of all U.S. households, or an estimated 85 million households, participating in one or more
* lawn and garden activities in 2002. Retail sales of lawn and garden supplies in the United States totaled

7




$51.9 billion in 2002. We believe that the industry will continue to grow over the next several years due to
favorable demographic trends. The key demographic bolstering our lawn and garden markets is the growth rate in
the number of adults over age 55, who are more likely to be “empty nesters” and have more disposable income
and leisure time available for garden activities. As the baby boom generation ages, this segment is expected to
grow faster than the total population. According to U.S. census data, the 55-64 age group is expected to grow at a
compounded annual growth rate of approximately 4% through 2010. We believe that this demographic should
increase the number of lawn and garden product users.

Lawn and garden products are sold to consumers through a number of distribution channels, including home
centers, mass merchants, independent nurseries and hardware stores. Home centers and mass merchants often
carry one or two premium products and one value brand. Due to the rapid expansion of mass merchants and
home centers in the last 15 years, the concentration of purchasing power for the lawn and garden category has
increased dramatically. We expect the growth of home centers, such as Home Depot and Lowe’s, and mass
merchants, such as Wal*Mart, to continue to concentrate industry distribution.

Proprietary Branded Lawn and Garden Products

QOur principal lawn and garden product lines are grass seed, wild bird food, lawn care products, decorative
outdoor patio products and ant control products. We have one of the largest value brands in grass seed through
Wal*Mart’s private label program; the largest wild bird food product through our Pennington brand; and the
leading fire ant bait through our AMDRO brand. We are also a leading marketer of indoor and outdoor pottery
products through our Norcal Pottery brand.

Grass Seed. We are a leading marketer and producer of numerous mixtures and blends of cool and warm
season turf grass for both the residential and professional markets, as well as forage and wild game seed
mixtures. We sell these products under the Pennington Seed, Pennington, Penkoted, Max-Q, ProSelect,
Tournament Quality and MasterTurf brand names. We also offer Lofts and Rebel premium grass seed products to
our customers under a license arrangement. We also produce private label brands of grass seed, including
Wal*Mart’s private label grass seed. Recently, the National Turfgrass Evaluation Program evaluated
Pennington’s Princess turf type seeded Bermudagrass as the best overall Bermudagrass. The Pennington grass
seed manufacturing facilities are some of the largest and most modern seed conditioning facilities in the industry.

Wild Bird Food Products. We are a leading marketer and producer of wild bird feed in the United States.
These products are sold primarily under the Pennington brand name. Our wild bird feed is treated with Bird-
Kote, a nutritious coating made up of vegetable oil, which has been fortified with oil soluble vitamins, and
elements needed by wild birds. '

Lawn and Garden Chemicals. We are a leading marketer of lawn and garden weed, moss control and insect
control products. We sell these products under the Knockout, Strike, Lilly Miller, Maxide, Alaska Fish Fertilizer
and IMAGE brand names and the Eliminator private label for Wal*Mart. We also manufacture several lines of
lawn and garden fertilizers, including granular products and liquid plant foods, soil and mulch under several
brands, including Pennington, Pro Care and other private and controlled labels.

Decorative Patio and Garden Products. We are a leading marketer of decorative indoor and outdoor pottery
products in the United States. We sell these products nationwide under the Norcal Pottery brand name which
includes terra cotta, stoneware, ceramic and porcelain pots. We also manufacture a complete line of wooden
garden products, including planters, barrel fountains, arbors and trellises that are sold under the Matthews Four
Seasons brand name. In addition, we have an equity stake in Cedar Works, a leading producer of wooden bird
feeders.

Ant Control. We are a leading marketer of fire ant bait, sold primarily in the southern United States, under
the AMDRO brand name. We also market ant baits, animal repellents and garden aid products under the Grant’s
brand name.




Sales and Logistics Network

Our sales and logistics network, consisting of 19 facilities, exists primarily to promote our proprietary
brands and provides us with key access to retail stores for our-branded products, acquisition and maintenance of -
premium shelf placement, prompt product replenishmietit, customization of retailer programs, quick responses to
changmg customer and retailet preferences, rapid deploymént and feedback for new products, immediate
exposure “for acquired brands and comprehénsive and strategic information. The network also sells other
fanufactitérs’ brands of lawn and garden supplies and combines these produicts with our branded products into-
single shipments enabling our 1ndependent customers to’ deal with us on a cost effective bas1s to meet their lawn
and garden supplies requtrements SR -

Sales and Marketing

. The marketing strategy for our premium products is focused on innovation, upscale packagmg, quahty and
retml shelf placement The marketlng strategy for our value products is focused on promotlon of thé quality and
efficacy of our value brands at a lower cost relative’ to premiurn brands. Our customers include retailers, such as
mass merchants, home 1mprovement centers, mdependent lawn and garden hurseries and drug and grocery stores,
and’ profess1onal énd users. Pennington lso offers a premium hne of grass and forage seed for the professional
market, such as golf courses, parks and ranchers.

To maximize our product placement and visibility in retail stores, we market our products through the
following four complementary strategies: -

. dedlcated sales forces’ for each of our brand groups .

. our sales and log1st1cs network wh1ch includes sales and merchand1s1ng personnel to servrce '_
mdependent retarlers on a weekly basis, espec1ally durmg the pnme sprmg and summer seasons

+ dedicated account-managers and sales teams for several of our largest customers; and

. independent distribut_or_s_who sell our brands. ,

Our marketmg department develops our consumer and fetailer’ support plans, inc¢luding cooperauve
adverusmg We also promote our products to consumers and retarlers through advemsements in trade journals,
magazmes and seasonal radro and telev1s1on commercrals

Manufacturing . . .
Garden Products currently operates 17 manufacturing facilities. In addition, certain of its proprietary branded

products are manufactured by contract manufactiirers. The primary sales and 10g1st1cs centers for Pennington’s
products are located both near the point of manufacture and at strateg1cally located warehousmg fac1ht1es

Purchasing

Most of the raw materials purchased by Garden Products are acquired from a number of different suppliers.
Garden Products obtains grass seed from various sources. The principal raw materials required for our wild bird
food manufacturmg goperations are bulk commod1ty grains, including millet, nulo wheat and sunflower seeds, .
which arg generally purchased from large national commodity companies ‘and local grain cooperatrves In order
to ensure an adequate supply of seed to satisfy expected productron volume, Pennmgton enters into contracts up
to five years in advance to purchase grain and seed at future dates by fixing the quantity, and often the price, at
the commitment date. See “Management s D1scuss10n and Analys1s of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and * ‘Risk Factors.” The key 1ngredlents in our fertilizer and insect and weed control products are
various commodity and specialty chemicals including phosphates, urea, potash, herbicides, insecticides and
fungicides. Garden Products obtains its raw materials from various sources, which it presently considers to be
adequate: No one source is considered to be essential to Garden Products Garden Products has never
. experienced a significant interruption of supply. : :




Competition .

The lawn and garden products industry is highly competitive. Our lawn and garden products compete
against national and regional products and private label products produced by various suppliers. Our turf and
forage grass seed products, fertilizers, pesticides and combination products compete principally against products .
marketed by Scotts. Since its acquisition of the Ortho line of lawn and garden products from Pharmacia
Corporation (formerly Monsanto) in 1999, Scotts’ dominant position in the lawn and garden industry.has been a
significant competitive disadvantage for our similar garden products. Garden Products. competes primarily on the
basis of its value brands, quality, service, price, low cost manufacturing and strong brand names. Garden
Products’ sales and logistics operations also compete with a large number of smaller local and regional
distributors, with competition based on price, service and personal relationships.

Significant Customers

Wal*Mart represented approximately 21% of Central’s net sales in fiscal 2003, 20% in fiscal 2002 and 21%
in fiscal 2001 and represented approximately 34% of Garden Products’ sales‘in fiscal 2003, 31% in fiscal 2002
and 33% in fiscal 2001. PETsMART represented approximately 10% of Pet Products’ net sales in fiscal 2003 and
2002 and 8% in fiscal 2001. Sales to Home Depot represented approximately 15% of Garden Products sales in
fiscal 2003, 13% in fiscal 2002 and 12% in fiscal 2001.

Patents and Other Proprietary Rights

Our branded products companies hold numerous patents in the United States and in other countries, and
have several patent applications pending in the United States and in other countries. We consider the .
development of patents through creative research and the maintenance of an active patent program to be
advantageous in the conduct of our business, but we do not regard the holding of any particular patent as
essential to our operations. We grant licenses to certain manufacturers and other third parties on various terms
and enter into cross-licensing arrangements with other parties. :

In addition to patents, we have numerous active ingredient registrations, end-use product registrations and
trade secrets, including certain technology used in the Wellmark business for the production of (S)-Methoprene,
which has been licensed to us from Novartis. This license is perpetual but non-exclusive. In addition, we have
developed certain improvements that are proprietary to us relating to the synthes1s ‘of (S)- Methoprene The
success of certain portions of our business, especially our Wellmark business, partly depends on our ability to °
continue to maintain trade secret information which has been licensed to us, and to keep both licensed and owned
trade secret information confidential. :

Alorig with patents, active ingredient registrations, end use product registrations and trade secrets, we own a
‘number of trademarks, service marks, trade names and logotypes. Many of our trademarks are reg1stered but
some are not. We are not aware of any reason we cannot continue to use our trademarks, service marks and trade
names in the way that we have been using them.

Employees

As of September 27, 2003, we had approximately 4,000 employees of which approximately 3,800 were full-
time employees and 200 were temporary or part-time employees. We also hire substantial numbers of additional
temporary employees for the peak lawn and garden shxppmg season of February through June to meet the
increased demand experienced during the spring and summer months. All of our temporary employees are paid
on an hourly basis. Except for certain employees at a Kaytee facility in Rialto, California, none of our employees
is represented by a labor union. We consider our relat1onsh1ps with our employees to be good

Environmental and Regulatory Consnderatlons

Many of the products:that we manufacture or dlstnbute are subject to local, state, federal and forergn laws
and regulations relating to environmental matters. Such regulations are often complex.and are subject to change..
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In the United States, all products containing pesticides must be registered with the United States Environmental
Protéction Agency, or EPA, (and in many cases, similar state’ and/or foreign agencies) before they can be sold.
Fertilizer and growing media products are also’subject to state'and fore1gn labelmg regulanons Grass seed is also
subject to state, federal and foreign labeling regulations. :

The Food Quality Protection Act, enacted by the U.S. Congress in August 1996, establishes a standard for
food-use pesticides, which is that a reasonable certainty of no harm will result from the cumuiative effect of
pesticide exposures. Under this:Act, the EPA is evaluating the comulative risks from dietary and non-dietary
exposures to pesticides. The pesticides in our products, which are also used on foods, will be evaluated by the
EPA as part of this non- dnetary exposure nsk assessment.

In addmon the use of certain pestlclde and fertlhzer products is regulated by various local, state, federal and
foreign environmental and public health agencies. These regulations may include requirements that only certified
or professional users apply the product or that certain products be used only on certain types of locations (such as
“not for use on sod farms or 2olf courses’), may require users to post notices on properties to. which products -
have been or will be applied, may require notification- of individuals in the vicinity that products will be applied
in the future or may ban the use of certain ingredients. We believe we are operating in substantial compliance
thh or taking action aimed at ensurmg comphance with, these laws and regulat1ons

Vanous local state, federal and foreign envuonmental laws also 1mpose obhgatlons on various entmes to
clean up contaminated properties or to pay. for the cost of such remediation, often upon parties that did not
actually cause the contamnination. Accordingly, we may become liable, either contractually or by operation of
law, for remediation costs even if the contaminated property is not presently owned or operated by us, or.if the
contamination was caused by third parties during or prior to our ownership or operation of the property. With our
extensive acquisition history, we have acquired a number of manufacturing and distribution facilities, and most
of these facilities have not been subjected to Phase II environmental tests to determine whether they are
contarmnated :

Envuonmental .regulations may affect us by restnctmg the manufacturmg or use of our products or
regulating their disposal, Regulatory or leglslatlve changes may cause future increases in our operating costs or
otherwise affect operations. Although we believe we are and have been. i m substanual compliance with such
regulations and have strict internal guidelines on the handling and dxsposal of our products, there is no assurance
that in the future we may not be adversely affected by such regulations or incur increased operating costs in
complying with such regulations. However, neither the compliance with regulatory requirements nor our
environmental procedures can ensure that we will not be subject to claims for personal injury, property damages
or governmental enforcement. For a d1scuss1on of - potenual environmental issues arising from a fire in our
Phoenix sales and loglstlcs facility, please see “Item 3,—Legal Proceedmgs Phoenix Fire” below.

Executive Officers

The following table sets forth the name, age and position of our executive officers as of December 1, 2003.

Name é_gs Position

William E.Brown ............... 62 Chairman of the Board

Glenn W. Novotny ....... AP 56 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Stuart W.Booth ................ 52 Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

Brooks M. Pennington IIT . ... ..... 49  Chief Executive Officer and President of Pennington Seed, Inc. and
Director

William E. Brown has been our Chairman since 1980. Until June 2003, Mr. Brown also served as our Chief
Executive Officer. From 1977 to 1980, Mr. Brown was Senior Vice President of the Vivitar Corporation with
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responsibility for Finance, Operations, and Research & Development. From 1972 to 1977, he was with
McKesson Corporation where he was responsible for its 200-site data processing organization. Prior to joining
McKesson Corporation, Mr. Brown spent the first 10 years of his business career at McCormick, Inc. in
manufacturing, engineering and data processing.

Glenn W. Novomy has been our Chief Executive Officer since June 2003 and our President since June 1990.
Mr. Novotny was President of Weyerhaeuser Garden Supply from 1988 until June 1990. Prior to joining Central,
he was with Weyerhaeuser Corporation for 20 years with a wide range of managerial experience including
manufacturing, accounting, strategic planning, sales, general management and business. turnarounds.

Stuart W. Booth has been our Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary since January 2002.
From January 2001 to October 2001, he was Chief Financial Officer of Respond TV, an interactive television
infrastructure and services company. From June 1998 until January 2001, Mr. Booth was the Principal Vice
President and Treasurer of Bechtel Group, Inc., an international engineering and construction company, where he
was responsible for global bank relationships and financial operations including credit, cash management and
foreign exchange operations. Prior to working at Bechtel, Mr. Booth was the Senior Vice President, Finance and
Development with PG&E Enterprises, the first non-regulated business unit of Pacific Gas and Electric Company.

Brooks M. Pennington III joined Central in February 1998 when we acquired Pennington Seed, Inc. Mr.
Pennington has been the President and Chief Executive Officer of Pennington Seed, Inc. since June 1994, and
prior thereto, he was the Senior Vice President, Legal, Finance and Administration of Pennington Seed, Inc. Mr.
Pennington is not a corporate officer of Central, but because he is the chief executive officer of a principal
subsidiary and a director of Central he is deemed to be an executlve ofﬁcer by virtue .of the Securities and
Exchange Commlsswn rules:

Available Information

Our Web site is http://www.centralgardenandpet.com. We make available free of charge, on or through our
Web site, our annual, quarterly and current reports, and any amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably
practicable after electronically filing or furnishing such reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Information contamed on our Web site is not part of this repon C

Item 2. Propef-ties

We currently operate 29 manufacturing facilities totaling approximately 2,987,000 square feet and 27 sales
and logistics facilities totaling approximately 2,854,000 square feet. Most sales and logistics centers consist of
office and warehouse space, and several large bays for loading and unloading. Each sales and logistics center
provides warehouse, distribution, sales and support functions for its geographic area. Our executive offices are
located in Lafayette, California.




Locati;)n'

. Fontana, CA -
“Rialto, CA

Sacramento, CA

Santa Fe Springs, CA

. Miami, FL.

Tampa, FL .
- Norcross, GA ~ -
-Abilene, KS .

- Mahwah, NJ

Neptune City, NJ A

Neptune City, NJ
Hauppauge, NY-
Hauppauge, NY
Cressona, PA -
Dallas, TX

" Dallas, TX ;

" Houston, TX
Algona, WA
Chilton, WI
Franklin, W1

Location

Cullman, AL
Roll, AZ
Yuma, AZ
El Centro, CA
Ontario, CA
Richmend, CA
Sacramento, CA
San Leandro, CA = .
San Leandro, CA
Santa Fe Springs, CA
Stockton, CA
Longmont, CO
Clearwater, FL
Orlando, FL. -
Eatonton, GA
Eatonton, GA

- Madison, GA (2)

- Madison, GA
Madison, GA
Madison, GA”

" Shady Dale, GA -

Hammond,: LA
Laurel, MD.. .
Bolivar, MO _
~ Greenfield, MO, (2)
" Greenfield, MO
- Sidney, NE

:‘Lebanon, OR -+~ . °

" Portland, OR
Columbia, SC

Grand Prairie, TX

- Houston, TX
Kenbridge, VA
Algona, WA

\

Type of Faciiity o

Manufacturing
Manufacturing .

" Sales and Logistics

Sales and Logistics
Sales and Logistics
Sales and Logistics

Sales and Logistics -
Manufacturing .

.. Sales and Logistics
.Manufacturing

Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing .. -
Manufacturing
Manufacturing .
Sales and Logistics
Sales and Logistics
Manufacturing
Manufacturing

Type of Facility -
Sales and Logistics
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing

- Sales and Logistics
‘Sales and Logistics

Sales and Logistics
Manufacturing
Sales and Logistics
Sales and Logistics
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Sales and Logistics
Manufacturing
Sales and Logistics
Manufacturing
Manufacturing

_Sales and Logistics

Sales and Logistics
Manufacturing
Sales and Logistics

Sales and Logistics -

Manufacturing
Manufacturing

‘Sales and Logistics

Manufacturing
Manufacturing

Sales and Logistics ~ -

Sales and Logistics
Sales and Logistics
Sales and Logistics
Sales and Logistics
Sales and Logistics
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The table below lists Pet Products’ manufacturing and sales and logistics facilities:

bwned or Leased

Leased
Owned
Leased
Leased
Leased
Leased
Leased
Owned

- Leased
Leased
Owned
Owned
Leased .
Owned
Leased
Owned .
Leased
Leased
Owned .
Owned

The table below lists Garden Products’ manufacturing and sales and logistics facilities:

Owned or Leased:

. Owned
Owned
Leased
Owned
Leased
Leased
Leased
Leased -
Leased
Leased
Leased
Owned
Leased
Leased
- Owned
Leased
Owned
Leased
Leased
Owned
Owned
Owned
Leased
Leased
Owned
- Owned
< Owned -
Owned
Leased
Owned
Leased
Leased
Leased
Leased



We lease ten of our manufacturing facilities and 22 of our sales and logistics facilities. These leases
generally expire between 2004 and 2008. Substantially all of the leases contain renewal provisions with
automatic rent escalation.clauses. The facilities we own are subject to major encumbrances under our principal
credit facility. In addition to the facilities that are owned, our fixed assets are comprised primarily of machinery
and equipment, trucks and warehousing, tranqulft:i:tion and computer equipment.

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings

TFH Litigation. In December 1997, Central acquired all of the stock of TFH Publications, Inc. (“TFH”). In
connection with the transaction, Central made a $10 million loan to the sellers, which was evidenced by a
Promissory Note. In September 1998, the prior owners of TFH brought suit against Central and certain
executives of Central for damages and relief from their obligations under the Promissory Note, alleging, among
other things, that Central’s failure to properly supervise the TFH management team had jeopardized their
prospects of achieving certain earnouts. Central believes that these allegations are without merit. Central
counterclaimed against the prior owners for enforcement of the Promissory Note, rescission and/or damages and
other relief, alleging, among other things, fraud, misrepresentation and breach of fiduciary duty by the prior
owners of TFH. These actions, Herbert R. Axelrod and Evelyn Axelrod v. Central Garden & Pet Company; Glen
S. Axelrod; Gary Hersch; William E. Brown; Robert B. Jones; Glenn Novotny; and Neill Hines, Docket No.
MON-L-5100-99, and TFH Publications, Inc. v. Herbert Axelrod et al., Docket No. L-2127-99 (consolidated
cases), are in the New Jersey Superior Court. The Court has scheduled the trial to begin in February 2004.

During the course of discovery in this action, Central has become aware of certain information which shows
that prior to the acquisition of TFH by Central, certain records of TFH were prepared in an inaccurate manner
which, among other things, resulted in underpayment of taxes by certain individuals. Those individuals could be
liable for back taxes, interest, and penalties. In addition, even though all of the events occurred prior to the
acquisition of TFH by Central, there is a possibility that TFH:could be liable for penalties for events which
occurred under prior management. Central believes that TFH has strong defenses available to the assertion of any
penalties against TFH. Central cannot predict whether TFH will be required to pay any such penalties. In the
event that TFH were requued to pay penalties, Central would seek compensation from the prior owners.

Central does not beheve that the outcome of the above matters will have a material adverse impact on its
operations, financial posmon or cash flows.

Scotts Litigation. On June 30, 2000, The Scotts Company filed suit against Central to collect the purchase
price of certain lawn and garden products previously sold to Central. See The Scotts- Company v. Central Garden
& Pet Comparny, Docket No. C2 00-755 (U.S. Dist Ct. N.D. Ohio). Central filed its answer and a counter
complaint asserting various claims for breaches of contracts. :

In April 2002, trial occurred on the claims and counterclaims of the parties (excluding one oral contract
claim that was severed from the remainder of the case). The net verdict was in favor of Scotts in the amount of
$10.4 million which had previously been recorded as an obligation by the Company. Scotts and Central filed
post-trial motions. In a March 20, 2003 order, the district court denied Scotts’ motion for attorneys’ fees, granted
Scotts” motion to set aside $750,000 of the jury amount awarded to Central, denied Central’s motion for a new
trial, granted Central’s motion for prejudgment interest; and granted in part and denied in part Scotts’ motion for
prejudgment interest. The court directed each party to re-determine the amount of their respective interest claims
in light of the Court’s ruling and to submit their respective determinations. On July 11, 2003, the Court issued an
order resolving the remaining prejudgment interest issues and directing the parties to submit calculations in
accordance with its decision. Pursuant to this order, the Court awarded prejudgment interest to Scotts in the net
amount of $2.8 million: On October 3, 2003, Central and Scotts settled the oral contract claim that had previously
been severed from the remainder of the case. Pursuant to the settlement, Scotts reduced the judgment amount by
$300,000. Central and Scotts have each filed notices of appeal from different aspects of the prior judgment and
post-judgment orders. In connection with the appeal, Central has posted approximately $15 million into an
escrow account, Ca
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On July 7, 2000, Central filed suit against Scotts:and Pharmacia Corporation (formerly know as Monsanto
Company) seeking damages and injunctive relief for, among other things, violations of the antitrust laws. See
Central Garden & Pet Company, v. The Scotts Company, and Pharmacia Corporation, formerly known as .
Monsanto Company, Docket No. C 00 2465, (U.S. Dist Ct. N.D. Cal.). Pursuént to a settiement reached with
Pharmacia, Central and Pharmacia agreed that all antitrust claims against Pharmacia and Monsanto -would be
resolved, and the:federal action has-been.dismissed as to Pharmacia and Monsanto. In May 2002, Scotts filed a
motion for summary judgment in the federal action based on res judicata. The court granted the res judicata .
motion. Central has appealed the judgment entered pursuant to the court’s order. Oral argument on the appeal
took place on November 6, 2003.

Central does not believe that.the outcome of the above remaining matters will have a material adverse
1mpact on 1ts operations, financial position, or cash flows.

Phoenix Fire. On August 2, 2000, a fire destroyed Central’s leased warehouse space in Phoenix, Arizona,
and an adjoining warehouse space leased by a third party. On July 31, 2001, the adjoining warehouse tenant filed
a lawsuit against Central and other parties in the Superior Court of Arizona, Maricopa County, seeking to recover
$47 million for property damage from the fire. See Cardinal Health Inc., et al. v. Central Garden & Pet -
Company, et al., Civil Case No. CV2001-013152. Local residents also filed a purported class action lawsuit
alleging claims for bodily injury and property damage as a result of the fire. This lawsuit has now been settled as
to all parties, subject to Court approval. As part of the settlement, Central’s liability insurers will pay $8 million
on behalfof Central, once the settlement becomes final in early 2004. The building owner and several nearby
businesses have also filed lawsuits for property damage and business interruption, which are being coordinated
with the remaining tenant lawsuit. Each of these lawsuits is currently pending in the Supérior Court of Arizona,
Maricopa County. The Arizona Department of Environmental Quality, after monitoring the-cleanup operations-
and asking Central, the building owner and the adjoining warehouse tenant to assess whether the fire and fire
suppression efforts may have caused environmental impacts to soil, groundwater and/or surface water, has now
issued a letter stating that Central need take o further action-at the site with respect to environmental issues. In -
early 2001, the EPA requested information relating to the fire. On July 17, 2002, the EPA: informed Central that it
intended to file a civil administrative complaint seeking penalties of up to $350,000 for certain alleged post-fire
reporting violations. Central and the EPA have recently settled those allegations for $65,000. The overall amount
of the damages to all parties caused by the fire, and the overall amount of damages which Central may sustain as
a result of the fire, have not been quantified. At the time of the fire, Central maintained property insurance
covering losses to the leased premises, Central’s inventory and equipment, and loss of business income. Central
also maintained insurance providing $51 million of coverage (with no deductible) against third party liability.
Central believes that this insurance coverage will be available with respect to third party claims against Central if
parties other than Central are not found responsible. The precise amount of the damages sustained in the fire, the
ultimate determination of the parties responsible and the availability of insurance coverage are likely to depend
on the outcome of complex litigation, involving numerous claimants, defendants and insurance companies.

Item4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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PART II

Item 5.  Market for the Reglstrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Our common stock has been traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol CENT since our initial
public offering on July 15, 1993. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the highest and lowest.
closing sale prices for our common stock, as reported by the Nasdaq National Market. :

High ~_Low
Fiscal 2002
FirstQuarter ..... ... 0 . i e e o $875 % 688
SecondQuarter ............... . . i B -10.99- 7.27
Third QUATtETr . . . . .ottt it e e e e 18.20 10.85
Fourth Quarter ... ...... e E SO S 17.55.. 1245
4 | | | 4 | High Low
Fiscal 2003 . e ) . ’ ‘
First Quarter ......... L e e e e $20.21 $17.11
-Second Quarter ...... e e e e e e s ve.. 2490 1832
Third Quarter . ...... e P e e e e e e e 25.00 21.64
FourthQuarter . ..............0..... e e e e e e 2911 -23.27

As of September 27, 2003, there were approx1mately 135 holders of record of our common stock and 7
holders. of record of our Class B stock. . L. ‘

We have not pa1d any cash dividends on our common-stock in the past. We currently intend to retain any
earnings for use in our business and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. In addition, our credit facility and senior subordinated. notes restrict our ability to pay
dividends. See Note 7 of the notes to our consohdated financial statements. \




Item 6 Selected Fmancnal Data

The followmo selected statement of operat10ns and balance sheet data as of and for the fiscal years ended
September 25, 1999, September 30, 2000, September 29, 2001, September 28, 2002 and September 27, 2003
have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements. The financial data set forth below should
be read in'conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto in “Item 8 — Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” and “Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analys1s of Financial
Condition and Results of Operauons included elsewhere herein.

Fiscal Year Ended
September 25, September 30, September 29, September 28, September 27,
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Statement of Operatlons Data ‘

Netsales (1) ........ P P L., $1,531,615 $1,350,878 $1,122,999 $1,077,780 $1,145,001
Cost of goods sold and occupancy ......... 1,212,319 1,037,701 811,186 757,437 811,562
Grossprofit ............... . ... ... .0 319,296 313,177 311,813 320,343 333,439
Selling, general and adrmmstratlve ) S
“EXPEeNSeS ... ... ..., e 262,366 - 274,077 297,751 267,579 . 261,098
Other charges (2)............. e P 2,708 27,156 — — —_
Incoine from operations . ... ... e 54,222 - 11,944 14,062 52,764 . 72,341
Interest expense, net ......... e (12,087 (22,551) (23,083) (14,608) {19,202)
Other'income ......... R TP © 1,106 1,176 1,631 5,548 2,522
Income (loss) before income taxes and ) '
cimulative effect of accountmg change ... 43,241 9.431) (7,390) 43,704 55,661
Incometaxes ........... ...l . 19,041 4,053 (247)° 15,159 21,020
Income (loss) before cumulauve effect of _ » o ‘ ) _ . o
accounting change ... ................ 24200  (13484)  (7,143) 28545 34,641
Cumulat1ve effect of accountmg change net ‘ ' ‘ _ o
oftax PR U RO — - = 112,237y —_
Net ineome, (1058 - .+« +vvoenesen. .. $ 24200 $ (13484) $ (7,143) $ (83,692) $ 34,641
Basic income (loss) per common equivalent . :
share:
Before cumulative effect of accounting
change ...... ... ... .. ... . ... $ 089 §$ 0.72) $ 0.39) $ 1.54 % 1.79
Cumulative effect of accounting
change ........... ... ... ... . ... _— — —_ (6.04) —
Basic income (loss) per common
equivalentshare .................. 3 089 $ 072y % (039 3% (450 $ 1.79
Diluted income (loss) per common equivalent
share:
Before cumulative effect of accounting ' ‘
change ... . oo $ 088 $ 0.72) $ (0.39) $ 144 $ 1.73
Cumulative effect of accountmg
change ............ ... ... — — — (4.88) —
Diluted income (loss) per common
equivalentshare .................. $ 088 $ 0.72) $ (0.39) $ (344) $ 1.73

Weighted average shares used in the
computation of income (loss) per common
equivalent share:
Basic ... 27,328 18,786 18,402 18,581 19,327
Diluted ...........co i, 27,437 18,786 18,402 23,009 20,081
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Fiscal Year Ended

September 25, September 30, September 29, September 28, September 27,
1999 2000 . 2001 2002 2003

(in thousands)

Other Data: S : ) ‘ .
Depreciation and amortization ............ $ 20492 $ 26,035 $ 28362 --$ 17616 $ 17,878
Capital expenditures .................... $ 18640 $ 16,663 $ 13,888 $ 10,907 - $ 17,958
Cash from operating activities ............. $ 63,613 $ 40,076 $ 38814 $ 72,813 § 51,202.
Cash used in investing activities ........... $(32,731) $(51,069) $(32,165) $(10,907) $(22,572)
Cash from (used in), financing activities .. oo $(33,193)  § 8,661 § (4,042) . $(59,314) $ 38,090
Rat1o of earmngs to ﬁxed charges 3 ....... ) 4.06 — — 3.81 3.59

» ‘ - September 25, September 30, September 29, September 28, September 27,

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
. ' : (in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data L L : ‘ o
Cash ......... ST e T :$ 8017 % 5685 $ 8292 $ 10,884 § 77,604
Working capital ........................ 169,192 119,021 - - 110,990 154,017 302,865
Total a$sets . ............ e P 955,394 - 945,311 916,626 731,957 829,098
Totaldebt ..........c.cvvii.. .. 221,266 . 282,758 - 278,098 212,899 250,253
Shareholders’ equity e we.o 495, 291 461,840 455,315 377,508 425,096

@)
2

3

Sales fluctuations for ﬁscal years 200() and 2001 were related primarily to the termination of our distribution
arrangement with The Scotts Company.

Other charges includes charges resulting from workforce reductions, employee benefit obligations, facﬂlty
closures, and asset impairments due to the termination of our distribution arrangement with The Scotts
Company and other anticipated sales decreases in our sales and logistics businesses.

For the purposes of determining the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, earnings consist of income (loss)
before income taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change, excluding income and losses associated
with equity investees, and before fixed charges. Fixed charges consist of interest expense, the portion of

- rental expense under operating leases deemed by management to be representative of the interest factor and
~ amortization of deferred financing costs. In the fiscal years ended September 30, 2000 and September 29,

2001, our fixed charges exceeded the sum of our earnings and fixed charges by $10.6-million and $9.0
million, respectively.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. .-

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the
related notes and other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K. This Form 10-K contains
forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from
those indiccrted‘ in forward-looking statements. See “Forward-Looking Statements.”

Overview . i

Central Garden & Pet Company is a leading innovator, marketer and producer of quality branded products
for the pet and lawn and garden supplies markets. We are one of the largest companies in the fragmented, $7.5
billion billion U.S:.pet supplies industry and in the $51.9 billion U.S. lawn and garden supplies industry. Our pet
products include pet bird and small animal food, wild bird food, aquarium products, flea, tick, mosquito and
other insect control products, edible bones, cages, carriers, pet books, and other dog, cat, reptile. and small ammaL
products. These products are sold under a number of brand names, including Kaytee, All-Glass Aquarium, =~
Oceanic, Zodiac, Pre-Strike, Altosid, Nylabone, TFH and Four Paws. Our lawn and garden products include
grass seed, wild bird food, weed and insect control products, decorative outdoor patio products and ant control
products. These products are sold under a number of brand names, including Pennington, Norcal Pottery, Lilly
Miller, Matthews Four Seasons, AMDRO and Grant’s. In fiscal 2003, our consolidated net sales were $1.15-
billion, of which our pet products segment, or Pet Products, accounted for $501.7 million and our lawn and
garden products Segment, or Garden Products, accounted for $643.3 million. In fiscal 2003, our income from
operations was $72.3 million, of which Pet Products accounted for $52.7 million and Garden Products accounted
for $39.3 million, before corporate expenses and eliminations of $19.7 million.

Background

During the past several years, we have transitioned our company to a leading marketer and producer, of
branded products from a traditional pet and lawn and garden supplies distributor. We initiated this transition
because we recognized the opportunity to build a portfolio of leading brands and i improve proﬁtablllty by
capitalizing on our knowledge of the pet and lawn and garden supplies sectors, our strong relationships with
retailers and our nationwide sales and logistics network. Qur goal was to diversify our business and improve
operating margins by establishing a portfolio of leading brands. Since 1997, we have acqurred numerous branded
products companies and product 11nes including Wellmark and Four Paws in fiscal 1997; Kaytee Products TFH
and Pennington Seed in fiscal 1998; Norcal Pottery in fiscal 1999; and AMDRO and All-Glass Aquanum in
fiscal 2000

While expanding our branded products business, we experienced adverse events in our distribution business.
From 1995 to 1999, we were the master distributor of Round Up and Ortho products. In January 1999, The Scotts
Company, one of our largest distribution suppliers at the time, acquired Ortho and became the marketing agent
for Round Up. In July 2000, Scotts terminated its relationship with us. Due to these events, we significantly
downsized our garden distribution operations and closed a total of 25 facilities from fiscal 1999 to fiscal 2001.
We have incurred significant legal expenses associated with lawsuits with Scotts and others. In fiscal 2001, we
mtegrated our sales and logistics networks into our pet and lawn and garden products businesses to allow Us to
focus resources and provide strategic sales support for our brands.

Vrrtuélly all of our sales before fiscal 1997 were from distributing other manufacturers’ products. Since
then, our branded product sales have grown to approximately $863 million, or approximately 75% of total sales,
in fiscal 2003. During this same. period, our sales of other manufacturers’ products have declined to
approx1mately $282 million, approximately 25% of total sales, and our gross profit margins have improved from
13.6% in fiscal 1996 to 29.1% in fiscal 2003.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the relative percentages that certain income and
expense items bear to net sales:

Fiscal Year Ended
September 27, September 28, September 29,
2003 2002 2001

Nt SAlES . ittt e e 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of goods sold and occupancy ........... .. ... oL, 70.9 70.3 72.2
Grossprofit ........... ... ... . il L U ‘ 29.1 29.7 27.8
Selling, general and administrative ........................... 22.8 24.8 26.5
Income from Operations . ............c.ouueenrinininnenn.n. 6.3 4.9 1.3
Interest eXPense, NEt .. ...........oiuiinirintat 1.7) 1.4 2.1)
Other iNCOME . ...ttt i it e et 0.2 0.5 0.2
InCome taXes .. ..ottt e 1.8 1.4 —
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change . ... ... 3.0 2.6 ‘ 0.6)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, netoftax ............... — 10.4) —
Net income (10SS) . oot vttt ettt ettt 3.0% 7.8)% 0.6)%

Fiscal 2003 Compared to Fiscal 2002

Net Sales

Net sales for fiscal 2003 increased $67.2 million, or 6.2%, to $1,145.0 million from $1,077.8 million in
fiscal 2002. This was due primarily to a $65 million, or 8%, increase in our branded product sales. All branded
product sales growth was organic. Sales of our own branded products represented 75% of our total sales in fiscal
year 2003. Garden Products’ sales for fiscal 2003 increased $36.6 million, or 6.0%, to $643.3 million from
$606.7 million in fiscal 2002. Contributing to the sales increase in Garden Products was increased sales of our
own branded products led by strong sales of our grass seed, wild bird food and ant control products, partially
offset by a minor reduction in sales of other manufacturers’ products. Pet Products’ sales for fiscal 2003
increased $30.6 million, or 6.5%, to $501.7 million from $471.1 million in fiscal 2002. Contributing to the sales
increase in Pet Products were increased sales of our own branded products resulting from the continued strength
of our insect control products, including Pre-Strike, our new consumer mosquito control product, increased bird
food sales, and increased aquarium sales.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased $13.1 million, or 4.1%, from $320.3 million in fiscal 2002 to $333.4 million in fiscal
2003. Pet Products’ gross profit increased $5.3 million, or 3.2%, reflecting increased gross profit from sales of
our own branded products and increased margin for other manufacturers’ products. Garden Products’ gross profit
increased $7.8 million, or 5.1%, reflecting increased sales of our own branded products.

Gross profit as a percentage of net sales decreased to 29.1% in fiscal 2003 from 29.7% in fiscal 2002,
reflecting decreases from 35.6% to 34.5% in Pet Products and from 25.2% to 24.9% in Garden Products. The
decline in gross margin was due primarily to the impact of higher than normal grain prices caused by last year’s
drought in the Plains states, partially offset by increased sales of our higher-margin branded products. We are
now seeing wild bird feed margins recover to more normal levels and expect gross margins to improve in fiscal
year 2004.
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Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $6.5 million, or 2.4%, from $267.6 million in fiscal
2002, to $261.1 million in fiscal 2003. The decrease was due primarily to decreased administrative costs, partially
offset by increased selling and delivery expenses. Asa percentage of net sales, selling, general and administrative
expenses decreased from 24.8% durmg fiscal 2002 to 22.8% durmg ﬁscal 2003.

Selhng -and dehvery expenses 1ncreased by $11 9 mrlhon or 9 6% from $123. 5 mrlhon in fiscal 2002 to
$135.4 million in fiscal . 2003. The'increase was due primarily to increased sales and higher advertising expenses.
Selling and delivery expenses.as a'percentage of net sales increased fror 11.5% in fiscal 2002 to 11.8% in fiscal
2003. Advertising expenses included an aggressive advertising campaign for the launch of Pre-Strike and a
significantly increased consumer advertising campaign for our fire ant bait brand.

Facilities expenses decreased $1.1 million from $11.5 million in fiscal 2002 to $10.4 million in 2003.-The
decrease was shared by both Pet Products and Garden Products due to the decreased number of sales and
logistics centers and shutdown costs that were absorbed in fiscal 2002.

3

Warehouse and administrative expenses decreased $17.3 million, or 13.0%, from $132.6 million in fiscat
2002 to-$115.3 million in fiscal 2003. Garden Products-decreased $3.0 million, Pet Products decreased $6.1
million and Corporate decreased-$8.2 million. The decreases were due primarily.to a $10.4 million reduction in
legal and litigation expenses and $3.4 million in reduced costs due to the impact of facility closures in fiscal
2002..Additionally, increased-sales and inventory levels in fiscal 2003 reduced the.amount of purchasing,
merchandise, handling and storage costs charged to warehouse and administration expense and instead included
as mventory costs. These decreases were offset pamally by 1ncreased health care and workers compensatron
msurance expenses. : o - :

Other Income
Other income decreased $3.0 million from $5.5 million in fiscal 2002 to $2.5 million in fiscal 2003. The
decrease was due primarily to $6 million of life insurance proceeds, partially offset by a $2.8 million write-off of

goodwill associated with an unsuccessful equity method investment, recorded in fiscal 2002. Earnings from
equity method investments were $2.5 million in fiscal 2003 compared with $2.3-million in fiscal 2002.

Interest Expense

Net interest expense increased $4.6 million, o 31.5%, from $14.6 miilion in fiscal 2002 to $19.2 million in
fiscal 2003. Of this increase, $1.8 million represented fees and expenses associated with the early retirement of
our 6% convertible subordinated notes in January 2003 and the refinancing of our senior credit facility in May
2003. The remainder of the increase was due. primarily to higher interest expense associated with the issuance in
January 2003.0f our $150° rmlhon 9 Vs percent Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013,

Average borrowmgs for ﬁscal 2003 were $24O 8 mrlhon compared to $260 6 nulhon in fiscal 2002. The
average interest rates for fiscal 2003 and 2002 were 6.6% and 5.2%, respectively.

Income Taxes
" Our effective income tax rate in fiscal 2003 was 37.8%.compared:-with 34.7% in fiscal 2002, before the
cumulative effect of accounting change. Our.marginal tax rate is generally. 39.2%. The difference between the

marginal tax rate and the effective tax rate in fiscal 2003 was due primarily to utilization of state ineome tax
credits and in fiscal 2002 was due primarily to non-taxable insurance proceeds.. -
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Fiscal 2002 Compared with Fiscal 2001

‘Net Sales

Net sales for fiscal 2002 decreased $45.2 million, or 4.0%, to $1,077.8 million from $1 123.0 million in
fiscal 2001. The decrease is due to a $40.3 million decrease in Garden Products and a $4.9 million decrease in
Pet Products. The decreases in both Garden Products and Pet Products relate to reductions in sales of other
manufacturers’ products resulting from facility closures in fiscal 2000 and 2001, as well as the business closure
of two customers during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001. In fiscal 2002, Kal Kan, a supplier of dog food, and
Arch Chemical, a major pool chemical supplier, each terminated their relationships with us to distribute their
products directly to retailers. In fiscal 2001, sales of Kal Kan products were approximately $14.3 million, and
sales of Arch products were approximately $50.5 million. The reduced revenues from sales of other
manufacturers’ products were partially offset by increases in sales of our own pet branded products and lawn and
garden branded products. Contributing to these increases were increased consumer acceptance of new products,
continued strength- of methoprene sales, the introduction of several new products and upgraded packaging.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased $8.5 million, or 2.7%, from $311.8 million in fiscal 2001 to $320.3 million in fiscal
2002. Pet Products’ gross profit increased $4.5 million, or 2.8%, reflecting increased gross profit from sales of
our own branded products and cost improvements, partially offset by decreased sales of other manufacturers’
products. Garden Products’ gross profit increased $4.0 million, or 2.7%, reflecting increased sales of our own
branded products, partially offset by the effects of lower sales.of other manufacturers’ products.-Another factor
coniributing to the increase in gross profit in 2002 for both Pet Products and Garden Products was inventory and
inventory related book and grass seed write- downs in fiscal 2001 of $3.7 mrlhon

Gross proﬁt asa percentage of net sales increased to 29. 7% in ﬁscal 2002 from 27.8% in fiscal 2001
reflecting increases from 34.3% to 35.6% in Pet Products and from 23.0% to 25.2% in Garden Products. The
percentage improvement was principally due to higher sales of our own branded products, a favorable mix of
sales, and reduced sales of other manufacturers’ products, which generally result in lower gross margins as
compared to sales of our own branded products.

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $30.2 million, or 10.1%; from $297.8 million in
fiscal 2001 to $267.6 million in fiscal 2002. As a percentage of net sales, selling, general and administrative
expenses decreased from 26.5% during fiscal 2001 to 24.8% for fiscal 2002. A portion of the decrease was due to
$11.3 million in goodwill amortization incurred in fiscal 2001, which did not occur in fiscal 2002 as we ceased
amortizing goodwill upon the adoption of SFAS No. 142 at the beginning of fiscal 2002.

Selling and delivery expenses decreased by $7.6 million, of 5.8%, from $131.1 million in fiscal 2001 to
$123.5 miillion in fiscal 2002. Both Pet Products and Gardén Products shared in the decrease, which was
principally dué to the ‘overall decrease in sales of other- manufacturers products. Included in fiscal 2001 selling
and delivery expense was approximately $2.1 million attributable to the closure of Pet Products branches and
increased freight costs to service out of market customers transferred from Garden Products’ 13 distribution
centers closed in fiscal 2000. »

Facilities expenses remained flat at $11.5 million in both ﬁscal 2002 and 2001. Increased facilities expenses
at Pet Products, principally due to shutdown costs related to the Kal Kan termination, offset a decrease at Garden
Products, due to the decreased number of sales and logistics centers.

Warehouse and administrative éxpens’es decreased $22.6 million, or 14.6%, to $132.6 million in fiscal 2002
from $155.2 million in fiscal 2001. Garden Products decreased $16.4 million, Pet Products decreased $0.5
million and Corporate decreased $5.7 million. The reductions in Garden Products and Pet Products were largely
due to the impact of facility closures as well as the elimination of costs associated with certain personnel
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reductions and bad debt write-offs incurred in fiscal 2001, which were at lower levels in fiscal 2002. The
decrease at Corporate related to the elimination of $11.3 million of goodwill amortization in fiscal 2002, upon
our adoption of SFAS No. 142. These decreases were partially offset by increased legal and litigation related
expenses and insurance premium costs in fiscal 2002. : :

Other Income »

Other income 1ncreased $3.9 m1lhon from $1.6 million in fiscal 2001 to $5.5 million in ﬁsca] 2002. The
increase was due primarily to $6 million of life insurarce proceeds, partially. offset by $2.8 million in charges
related to the write-off of goodwill associated with an unsuccessful equity method investment. Earnings from
equity method investments were $2.3 million in fiscal 2002 compared with $1.6 million in fiscal 2001.

Interest Expense

Net interest expense decreased $8.5 million; or 36.8%, from $23.1 million in fiscal 2001 to $14.6 million in
fiscal 2002. The decrease is due to both lower average short-term borrowings and lower average short-term
interest rates. Average short-term borrowings for fiscal 2002 were $109.1 million compared fo $160.3 million in
fiscal 2001. The average short-term interest rates for fiscal 2002 and 2001 were 4.7% and 7.5%, respectively.

Income Taxes

Our effective income tax rate, before the cumulative effect of accounting change, for fiscal 2002 was 34.7%
compared to an effective rate of 3.3% in fiscal 2001. For fiscal 2002, our marginal tax rate was 39.2%. The
difference between the marginal tax rate and the effective tax rate is due primarily to non-taxable insurance
proceeds recorded in fiscal 2002. In fiscal 2001, we recognized a tax benefit of $0.2 million on a pre-tax loss of
$7.4 million. The low effective tax rate in fiscal 2001 resulted primarily from the inclusion of non-deductible
goodwill amortization, which ceased upon adoption of SFAS No. 142.

EBITDA

EBITDA is a basis used by our chief operating decision makers to measure our operating results and to
measure profitability and performance. We also use EBITDA in evaluating performance for executive '
compensation purposes and budgeting purposes. EBITDA is also an important measure used in our evaluation of.
acquisition candidates, and our experience is that targets we approach with transactions involving our stock rely
extensively on EBITDA. We calculate EBITDA as income from operations plus depreciation and amortization.
Management believes EBITDA is meaningful to investors because it provides analysis of operating results using the
same measures used-by our chief operating decision makers. While EBITDA is frequently used as a measure of
operations and the ability to meet debt service requirements, it is not necessarily comparable to other similarly titled
captions of other companies due to potential inconsistencies in the method of calculation. Consistent with our
calculation in the past and with our current debt covenants, our calculation excludes Other Income. EBITDA should -
not be viewed by investors as an alternative to generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, measures of
income as a measure of performance or to cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities as a measure
of liquidity. In addition, EBITDA does not take into-account capital expenditures or certain changes in assets and
l1ab1ht1es as well as interest.and income taxes which can affect cash flows.

September 29, ‘September 28, September 27,

. . DA - 2001 - 2002 - 2003

. o : , o (in thousands) :
Netincome (10SS) ..ottt e e e $(7,143) $(83,692) $34,641
Depreciation and amortization . .................. B 28,362 17,616 . 17,878
INterest EXPense ... .o vvti it 23,083 14,608 ‘ 19,202
Other income ........ R L (1,631) (5,548) (2,522)
INCOmE taX eXPense . .................. UL SO (247) 15,159 21,020
Cumulative effect of account change netoftax ................. — 112,237 —
EBITDA ............ AU PR R I $42,424  $.70380  $90,219




Goodwill

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. SFAS No. 142 changed the
accounting for goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite-lives from an amortization method to an impairment
approach. We will continue to amortize other intangible assets over their estimated useful lives. Amortization of
goodwill, including goodwill recorded in prior business combinations, ceased upon the adoption of the standard,
which we adopted for the fiscal year beginning September 30, 2001. As required by SFAS No. 142, we
performed our goodwill impairment analysis in fiscal 2002 and recorded a-non-cash charge to write down .
goodwill in Garden Products by. $51 9 Imlhon ($42 1 million after tax) and in Pet Products by $94.8 million
($70.1 million after tax). ‘ .

We also performed our annual goodwill impairment analysis on the first day of our fiscal 2003 and 2002
fourth quarters, using a valuation model based on estimated future operating results and cash flows. These
analyses indicated that no additional adjustments were required to the remaining goodw111 balances. For more
information, see Notes 1 and 5 of our consolidated financial statements.

The following financial information for fiscal 2001 is presented as if SFAS No. 142 were adopted at the
beginning of fiscal 2001:

September 29,
2001

(in thousands, except
+.per share amounts).

Reported netloss ........... e P . $(7,143). .
Goodwill amortization; net of tax . .. .. B T e PR 9,006
Net income, as adjusted ................... e e Sl $ 1,863
Basic and diluted loss per share:

Reported 1oss . .............. T e P . $(0.39)

Goodwill amortization .......... P P 0.49
Adjusted income per share .......... e e S P, e . $ 010
Inflation

The results of operations and financial condition are presented based upon hxstoncal cost. While it is’
difficult to accurately measure the 1mpact of mflatlon we believe that the effects of inflation on our operatlons
have been immaterial. 3 - : S

Weather and Seasonality

. Historically, our sales of lawn and garden products have been mﬂuenced by weather and chmate condmons
in the different markets we serve. Additionally, Garden Products’ business has historically been highly seasonal:
In fiscal 2003, approximately 65% of Garden Products’ net sales and 59% of our total net sales occurred in the
second and third fiscal quarters. Substantlally all of Garden Products’ operating income is typically generated in
this period, which has historically offset the operating loss incurred during the first fiscal quarter of the year.

Liquidity and Capital Resources -

.. Wehave financed our growth through a combination of bank borrowings, supplier credit, internally '
generated funds and sales of equity and debt securities to the public.

Historically, our business has been seasonal and our working capital requirements and capital resources .
tracked closely to this seasonal pattern. During the first fiscal quarter, accounts receivable reach their lowest level
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while inventory, accounts payable and short-térm borrowings begin to increase. During the second fiscal quarter,
receivables, accounts payable and short-term-borrowings begin to increase, reflecting the build-up of inventory
and related payables in anticipation of the peak lawn and garden selling season. During the third fiscal quarter,
inventory levels rémain relatively constant while accounts receivable peak and short-term borrowings start to
decline as cash collections are received during the peak selling season. During the fourth fiscal quarter, inventory
levels are at their lowest, and accounts receivable and payables are substantially reduced through conversion of
receivables to cash. As a result of the reduction in sales of garden products manufactured by other parties as a
percentage of overall sales, this seasonal pattern has become somewhat less’ significant.

We service two broad markets: pet supplies and lawn and garden supplies: Our pet supplies businesses
involve products that have a year round selling cycle with very little change quarter to quarter. As atesult, it is
not necessary to carry large quantities of inventory to meet peak demands. Additionally, this level sales cycle
eliminates the need for manufacturers to give extended credit terms to either distributors or retailers. On the other
hand, our lawn and garden businesses are highly seasonal with approximately 65% of Garden Products’ -
aggregate sales occurring during the second and third fiscal quarters. For many manufacturers of garden
products, this seasonality requires them to move large quantities of their product well ahead of the peak selling
periods. To encourage distributors to carry large amounts of inventory, industry practice has been for
manufacturers to give extended credit terms and/or promotional discounts.

Cash provided by operating activities decreased $21.6 million from $72.8 million in fiscal 2002 to $51.2
million in fiscal 2003. The decrease was primarily attributable to increased inventory and accounts receivable
levels. Increased inventory levels were due primarily to increased grass seed inventories for several of our
varieties in anticipation of rising costs in 2004, the build up of inventory for a new product launch and carrying
higher finished goods inventory at several of our companies to accommodate transitions to new facilities and
minimize interruptions of the supply of our products. The increase in accounts receivable levels was primarily
the result of increased sales in the fourth quarter, including increased sales towards the end of the quaner to -
several of our larger customers to whom we offer extended payment terms.

Net cash used in investing activities increased $11.7 million primarily as a result of capital expenditures for
Phase I of our Kaytee Products capital expansion project and our acquisition of a 49% equity interest in the E.M.
Matson lawn and garden business.

Net cash provided by financing activities increased $97.4 million due to the net proceeds received from the
issuance of $150 million of senior subordinated notes in January 2003, a $100 million senior term loan in May
2003 and employee stock option exercises. These proceeds were partially offset by the redemption of our $115
million convertible subordinated notes in February 2003, the repayment of the outstanding borrowings under our
prior credit facilities, the payment of financing costs associated with our senior subordinated notes and senior
term loan, and the repayment of substantially all of our other debt.

At September 27, 2003, our total debt was $250.3 million versus $212.9 million at September 28, 2002. Net
debt, total debt less cash and cash equivalents, decreased to $172.6 million at September 27, 2003 versus $202.0
million at September 28, 2002.

Fiscal Year Ended
September 28, 2002  September 27, 2003
(in thousands)

Notespayable . . ... i e e $ 59,975 5 —
Current portion of long-termdebt .................. ... .. ... ..., 7,593 1,028
Long-termdebt ......... ... i 145,331 249,225

Total debt . ... .. 212,899 250,253
Less cash and cash equivalents .............. ... i . 10,884 ‘ 77,604

Netdebt .................. e $202,015 $172,649



_ In January 2003, we issued $150 million of 9 V8% senior subordinated notes due 2013. The net proceeds of
approximately $144 million were used to redeem $115 million of 6% subordinated convertible notes due
November 2003. We used the balance of the net proceeds, combined with additional borrowings under our prior
line of credit with Congress Financial Corporation (Western), to repay the outstanding borrowings under our
Pennington credit facility and two senior secured term loans of All-Glass. In conjunction with these repayments,
we terminated the Pennington and All-Glass credit facilities.

In May 2003, we closed a‘ne_‘w $200 million senior secured credit facility consisting of a five-year $100
million revolving credit facility and a six-year $100 million term loan. Interest on the term loan initially was
based on a rate equal to LIBOR plus 2.75% or the prime rate plus 1.25%, at our option. In October 2003, we
reduced the pricing on the term loan by 0.50% to LIBOR # 2.25% or the prime rate plus 0.75%; at our option.
Interest on the revolving credit facility is based on a rate equal to prime.plus a margin which fluctuates from
0.25% to 1.25% or LIBOR plus a margin which fluctuates from 1.75% to 2.75%, determined quarterly based on
consolidated total debt.to consolidated EBITDA for the most recent trailing 12-month period. This facility is
secured by essentially all of our assets, contains certain financial covenants requiring maintenance of minimum
levels of interest coverage and tangible net worth and maximum levels of senior debt to EBITDA and total debt
to EBITDA, and restricts our ability to make treasury stock purchases and pay dividends. We were in compliance
with all financial covenants as of September 27, 2003. This facility.also requires the lenders’ prior written
consent to any material investments in or acquisitions of a business. The new facility replaced our $175 million
asset-based revolving credit facility. A portion of the net proceeds from the $100 million term loan were used to
retire the outstanding debt under the -asset-based revolving credit facility. The remaining net proceeds were used
to retire other existing-debt and, along with the amounts available under the $100 million revolving credit
facility, will provide capital for general corporate purposes, acquisitions and investments. No balances were
outstanding at September 27, 2003 under the $100 million revolving credit facility and the remaining available
borrowing capacity at September 27, 2003 was $94.8 million. The $5.2 million difference represents outstanding
letters of credit.

As a result of these refinancings, we have increased our financial flexibility by replacing our long-term debt,
putting in place a layer of medium-term capital and increased our access to additional lenders. We believe that
this increased financial flexibility. will allow us to more effectively pursue growth opportunities and potential
acquisitions on a prudent basis.

The table below presents significant commercial credit facilities available to us and their associated
expiration dates: (in millions)

: : . Total Amount
Maximum Commercial Commitments .. . _ ] Less than 1 Year 1-3 Years 4-5Years  Committed
Revolving line of credit with Canadian Imperial Bank of - . o
COMMEICE . . ..ottt et . $0 $0 -$100 $100

Subsequent;to the end .of fiscal 2003, we entered into a $75 million pay-floating interest rate swap
effectively converting half of our $150 million fixed rate 9 ¥ percent senior subordinated notes to a floating rate
of LIBOR + 4.04%.

The table below presents our significant contractual cash obligations by fiscal year: ($ in millions).

Contractual Obligatiohs Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2006 Fiscal 2007 Fiscal 2008 Thereafter  Total
Revolving line of credit ‘ ,

facilities ............... $— $— $— $— $— $ — 8 —
Long-termdebt ....... e 1.0 1.0 1.3 1.0 1.0 245.0 250.3
Operating leases .. ......... 13.9 10.8 63 34 2.6 4.9 41.9
Purchase commitments .. ... 66.6 30.7 21.9 13.8 .13 — 140.3
Total contractual cash :

obligations . ............ $81.5 $42.5 $29.5 $18.2 $10.9 $2499  $4325
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We believe that cash flows from operating activities, funds available under oirr credit facility, and
arrangements with suppliers will be adequate to fund our presently anticipated working capital requirements for-

the foreseeable future. We anticipate that our cap1tal expend1tures will not exceed $15 million for thé next 12
months. : : S

Subsequent to year end, we deposited approximately $15 million into an escrow account in connection with
an appeal in the Scotts litigation. The use of this cash is restricted from general corporate purpdses. See Item3 -
“Legal Proceedmgs - Scotts ngatzon o : : S

As part of our growth strategy, we have engagéd in acquisition:discussions with a number of companies in
the past, and we anticipate that we will continue to evaluate potential acquisition carididates. If one or more -
potential acquisition opportunifies, inclhiding those that would ‘be material, become available in the near future; -
we may require additional external capital. In addition, such acquisitions would subject us to the general risks
associated w1th acqurrmg compames partlcularly if the acqu1srt1ons are relatlvely large

[N

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity”. SFAS No. 150 establishes standards for how an issuer classifies
and measures certain firiancial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. It requires that an
issuer classify a financial instrument that is within its scope as'a liability (or an asset in some circumstances).
This Statement is effective for financial instruments entered into or ‘modified after May 31, 2003, and otlierwise
is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after J une’'15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No.
150 did not have an tmpact on our ﬁnanc1a1 statements s S :

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretatlon No. 46 (FIN 46), Consolidation of Varzable Interest
Entities. FIN 46 clarifies the application of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51 and explains how to identify
variable interest entities and how to determine whether t6 consolidate such entities. FIN 46 requires existing
unconsolidated entities to be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries if the entities do not effectively disperse
risks among parties involved. The adoptlon of FIN 46 did not have an 1mpact on our results of operauons or
ﬁnanc:1al posmon » :

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition
and Disclosure.” SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to provide
alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-
based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the:disclosure requirements of Accounting
Principles Board (““APB”) Opinion No. 28, Interim Financial Repdrting;-to require proforma disclosure in interim
financial’statemients by companies that elect to account for stock-based-comperisation using the intrinsic value:
method prescribed in APB Opinion No. 25. We continue to use the intrinsic value method of accounting for stock-
based compensation. As a result, the transition provisions will not have an effect on our consolidated financial.-
statements.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45 (FIN 45), Guarantor’s Accounting and '
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees-of Indebtedness of Others. FIN 45
elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a guarantor and clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at
the inception of the guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee.
The adoption of the disclosure and recognition and-measurement provisions of FIN 45, effectlve begmmng
December 29, 2002, did not have an 1mpact on our financial- statements

In June 2002} the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Ex1t or D1sposal ‘
Activities,”” which addresses accounting for restructuring and sirhilar costs. SFAS No."146 supersedes previous
accounting guidance, principally Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 94-3. SFAS No. 146 requires that the
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liability for costs associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. SFAS
No. 146 also establishes that the liability should initially be measured and recorded at fair value. Accordingly,
SFAS No. 146 may affect the timing of recognizing future restructuring costs as well as the amounts recognized.
We will apply the provisions of SFAS No. 146 for any future exit or disposal activities.

In. August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets,” that replaced SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets for Long-
Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of.” SFAS No. 144 requires that long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale,
including those of discontinued operations, be measured at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to
sell, whether reported in continuing operations or in discontinued operations. Liabilities for discontinued
operations will no longer include amounts for operating losses that have not yet been incurred. SFAS No. 144
also broadens the reporting of discontinued operations to include all compenents. of an entity with operations that
can be distinguished from the rest of the entity and that will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the
entity in a disposal transaction. We adopted SFAS No. 144 for our fiscal year beginning September 29, 2002.
The adoption of SFAS No. 144 did not have an impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash
flows.

Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates and Judgments

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our _
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and
judgments that affect the reported amounts and related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
Estimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to, accounts receivable and inventory values, fixed asset
lives, intangible asset values, deferred income taxes, self-insurance accruals and the impact of contingencies and
litigation. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the result of which forms the basis for making judgments about the
carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Although not all inclusive, we believe that the following represent the more critical accounting policies,
which are subject to estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We record an allowance for credit losses and disputed balances resulting from customers’ inability to make
required payments. We estimate our allowance based on both specific identification and historical experience. If
the financial condition of our customers was to deteriorate, or we were not able to demonstrate the validity of
amounts due, additional allowances may be required. For more information, see Note 4 of our consolidated
financial statements.

Inventory

Inventory, which primarily consists of lawn and garden products and pet supplies finished goods, is stated at
the lower of first-in first-out (FIFO) cost or market. Cost includes certain indirect purchasing, merchandise
handling and storage costs including certain salary and data processing costs incurred to acquire or manufacture
inventory, costs to unload, process and put away shipments received to prepare them to be picked for orders, and
certain overhead costs. We compute the amount of such costs capitalized to inventory based on an estimate of
costs related to the procurement and processing of inventory to prepare it for sale compared to total product
purchases. When necessary, we have reduced the carrying value of our inventory if market conditions indicate
that we will not recover the carrying cost upon sale. Future downward changes in market conditions related to
our products would result in an:additional charge to income in the period in which such conditions occur.
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Goodwill

As a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” we recorded a $146.7
million non-cash impairment of our goodwill as of September 30, 2001, which was recorded as a cumulative
effect of accounting change in fiscal 2002. We test the carrying value of our goodwill for impairment on an
annual basis on the first day of our fourth quarter. We use projected future operating resuilts and cash flows of our
reporting units to establish the fair value used in evaluating the carrying value of the associated goodwill. If
estimated future results of operations differed from those projections used by management, or if alternative
valuation methodologies had been used in determining the reporting units fair value, the cumulative effect of -
accounting change charge may have been d1fferent than the amount we recorded Future downward changes i in
the operating results of our reportmg umts may result in addmonal charges to income 1n the year which such
conditions occur..

Long-Lived Assets

We review our long-lived assets for potential impairment based on a review of projected undiscounted cash
flows associated with these assets. Long-lived assets are included in impairment evaluations when events and
circumstances exist that indicate the carrying amount of those assets may not be recoverable. Measurement of
impairment losses for long-lived assets that we expect to hold and use is based on the estimated fair value of the
assets. We have recorded asset impairment charges when the carrying value of certain assets was in excess of
their fair value. Should market conditions or the assumptions used by us in determining the fair value of these
assets change, or management change plans for usage of certain assets, additional charges to operations may be
required in the period in which such conditions occur. -

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures compensation expense for its employee stock-based compensation plans using the
intrinsic value method prescribed by APB Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Tssued to Employees, and has
provided pro forma disclosures of the effect on-net income and earnings per share as if the fair value-based -
method (provrded for under SEAS No 123) had been apphed in measunng compensatlon expense

As requ1red under SFAS No. 123, the pro forma effects of stock-based compensatlon on net income and
earnings per common share for employee stock options granted and employee stock purchase plan purchases
have been estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. For purposes of pro forma
disclosures {which are included in Note 1 of our consolidated financial statements), the estimated fair value of
the optlons and shares is amortlzed to pro forma net 1ncome over the options’ vestmg period.

Althou‘gh different valuation rne'thodologies are available, we have chosen the intrinsic value method to
account for common stock incentive awards. This accounting policy has been applied consistently for all years
presented. Operatlng results ‘would be affected if other alternatives were used. Information about the impact on
operating results by using APB Opinion 25 is included in Note 1 of our consolidated financial statements.

Income Taxes " :

We acc;(;unt for incomie taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, :“Acc'ounting for Income Taxes.” Deferred
income taxes result pnmarﬂy from bad debt allowances, inventory write- downs, depreciation and nondeductible
reserves. We have considéred future taxable incomie and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planmng strategies in
assessing the need for a valuation allowance. If we were to determine that we wotild not be able to realize all or
part of our net deferred tax asset in the future, any adjustment would be charged to income in the period such
determination was made. For more informatioi, se¢ Note 9 of our consolidated financial statements.

S . N ,
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Accruals For Self-Insurance

Self-insurance accruals are made for certain claims associated with employee health care, workers’
compensation and general liability insurance. These accruals include estimates based on historical losses and
expected future development factors. Differences in. estimates and assumptions could result in accrual
requirements materially different from the calculated accruals. -

Commitments and Contingencies

As discussed in Note 8 to our consolidated financial statements, we are involved in several significant legal
matters as wel] as other matters incidental to our business, the disposition of which are not expected to have a
material effect on our financial position or results of operations. We use our best estimates to determine the
probable outcome and costs associated with the resolution of such matters. These estimates are developed in
consuitation with outside counsel handling these matters and are based upon a combination of potential litigation
and settlement strategies. It is possible, however, that future results of operations for any particular quarter or
annual period could be materially affected by adverse developments or changes in management s strategy related
to these proceedings. '

'

Risk Factors

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results
could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of factors both:in
and out of our control, including the risks faced by us described below and elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

You should carefully consider the risks described below. In addition, the risks described below are not the
only ones facing us. We have only described the risks we consider to be the most material. However, there may
be additional risks that are viewed by us as not material or are not presently known to us.

If any of the events described below were to occur, our business, prospects, financial condition and/or results
of operations could be materially adversely affected. When we say below. that something could or will have a
material adverse effect on us, we.mean that it could or will have one or more of these effects. In any such case, the
price of our common stock could decline, and you could lose all or part of your investment in our company.

We may be adversely affected by trends in the retail industry.

With the growmg trend towards retail trade consolidation, we are mcreasrngly dependent upon key retailers
whose bargarmng strength is growing. ‘Our business may be negatively affected by changes in the policies of our
retailer customers, such as inventory destocking, limitations on access to shelf space, price demands and other
conditions. In addition, as a result of the desire of retailers to more closely manage inventory levels, there is a
growing trend among retailers to make purchases on a “just-in-time” basis. This requires us to shorten our lead
time for productron in certain cases and more closely anticipate demand, which could in the future require the
carrying of additional inventories and i increase our working capital and related ﬁnancmg requirement.

A significant deterioration in the financial condition of one of our major customers could have a material
adverse effect on our sales, profitability and cash flow. For example, in fiscal 2001, Kmart and House & Home
filed for bankruptcy and, as a result, we wrote off $3.1 million in receivables. We continually monitor and
evaluate the credit status of our customers and attempt to adjust sales terms as approprrate Despite these efforts,
another bankruptcy filing by a key customer could have a materral adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and 11nanc1a1 condltron

We depend on a few customers for a significant portion of our business.

Wal*Mart, our largest customer, accounted for approximately 21% of our net sales in fiscal 2003, 20% in
fiscal 2002 and 21% in fiscal 2001. In addition, although each accounted for less than 10% of our net sales,
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Home Depot, Lowe’s, PETsMART and PETCO are also significant customers and, together with Wal*Mart,
accounted for approximately 44% of our net sales in fiscal 2003, 42% in fiscal 2002 and 41% in fiscal 2001. The
market shares of all of these key retailers have 1ncreased during the last several years and may continue to
increase in future years. . . oo .

The loss of, or significant adverse change in, our relationship with any of these key retailers could cause our
net sales, income from operations and cash flow to decline. The loss of, or reduction in, orders from any
significant customer, losses arising from customer disputes regarding shipments fees, merchandise condition or
related matters, or our inability to collect accounts recelvable from any major customer could reduce our income
from operations and cash flow. R

We cannot be certain that our product innovations and marketmg successes will continue,

We believe that our past performance has been based upon, and our future success will depend upon, in part,
our ability to continue to improve our existing products through product innovation and to develop, market and
produce new products. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in the introduction, marketing and
production of any new products or product innovations, or develop and introduce in a timely manner innovations
to our existing products which satisfy customer needs or achieve market acceptance. Our failure to develop new
products and introduce them successfully and in a timely manner could harm our ability to grow our business and
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

1

Seeds and grains we use to produce bird feed and grass seed are commodzty products subject to price volatlllty
- that has had, and could have, a negative impact-on us.

Our financial results depend to some-extent on the cost of raw materials. and our ability to pass along
increases in these costs to our customers. In particular, our Pennington and Kaytee subsidiaries ‘are exposed to
fluctuations in market prices for commodity seeds and. grains used to produce bird feed and grass seed.
Historically, market prices for commodity seeds and grains have fluctuated in response to a number of factors
including changes in United States government farm support programs, changes in international agrlcultural and
trading policies and weather conditions during the growing and harvesting seasons. For-example, due to drought
conditions in 2002, we experienced significant increases in the costs of most grains and seeds. purchased for .
production. These cost increases had a negative impact on profitability of bird feed products in fiscal 2003. In the
event of any increases in raw materials costs, we would be required to increase sales prices to avoid margin
deterioration. We cannot assure you as to the timing or extent of our ability to implement future price
adjustments in the event of increased raw material costs or as to whether any price increases implemented by us
may affect the volumes of future shxpments

In fiscal 2001 and 2002, Garden Products was advcrsely affected by a worldwide oversupply of certain grass
seeds brought on by a combination of weather issues and the bankruptcy sale of a competitor, generally poor
economic tonditions in agriculture, and cattle diseases that reduce demand for seed. By close of fiscal 2003, the
grass seed market returned to more normal conditions whereby most varieties are in supply -demand balance yet
certain varieties are in oversupply, and others may be'in short supply

To mitigate our exposure to’ changes in market prices, we énter into purchasé contracts for grains, bird feed
and grass seed to cover up to approximately one-third of the purchase requiremerits for a selling season. Since
these contracts cover only-a portion of our purchase requirements, if market prices for grains increase, our cost of
production would increase: In contrast, if market prices for grains decrease because of a lack of demand, we may
end up purchasing grains and seeds pursuant 10 the purchase contracts at prices above market.

Competition in our industries may hinder our ability to execute our business strategy, achieve proﬁtablluy, or
maintain relationships with existing customers. .

We operate in highly competitive industries. We compete against numerous other cormpanies, some of
which are more established in their industries and have substantially greater revenue or resources than we do.
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Our products compete against national and-regional products and private label products produced by various ' -
suppliers. Our largest competitor in pet-supplies products is Hartz Mountain, and our largest competitor in lawn
and garden products is The Scotts Company. Since its acquisition of the Ortho line of lawn and garden products
from Pharmacia Corporation (formerly Monsanto) in 1999, Scotts’ dominant position in the lawn and garden
industry has been a significant competitive disadvantage for Garden Products.

To compete effectively; among other things, we must:
* maintain our relationships with key reta.llers . _
» continually develop innovative new products that appeal to consumers;
* maintain strict quality standards
* deliver products on a reliable basxs at competmve prices; and
* effectively 1ntegrate acqulred companles
Competition could cause lo_wer sales vol_umes, price reductions, reduced profits or lo‘sses,v, or 1oss of market share.

Our inability to compete effectively could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations
and financial condition. »

Our acquisition strategy involves a number of risks.

We have completed numerous acquisitions since 1997 and intend to grow throtigh the acquisition of
additional companies. We are regularly engaged in acquisition discussions with a number of companies and
anticipate that one or more potential acquisition opportunities, including those that would be material, may
become available in the near future. If and when appropriate acquisition opportunities become available, we
intend to pursue them actively. Further, acquisitions involve a-number of special risks, including:

+ fajlure of the acquired business to achleve expected results;

s .. diversion of management’s attention;

* failure to retain key personnel of the acqulred busmess,

+ additional ﬁnancmg, if necessary and avallable could increase leverage dilute equity, or both;

+  the potential negative effect on our financial statements ‘from the increase in goodwill and other
intangibles; and ' :

» the high cost and expenses of completmg acqulsmons and risks associated with unant1c1pated events or
liabilities. : . : :

These risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. '

We expect to face competltlon for acquisition candldates whxch may limit the number of opportunities and
may lead to higher acquisition prices. In fiscal 2002, we wrote off $146.7 million of goodwill related to previous
acquisitions in accordance with SFAS 142. We cannot assure you that we will be.able to identify, acquire, or
manage profitably additional businesses or to integrate successfully any acquired businesses into our existing
business without substantial costs, delays or other operational or financial difficulties. In future acquisitions, we
also could incur additional indebtedness or pay consideration in excess of fair value, which could have a material-
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our lawn and garden sales are highly seasonal and subject to adverse weather, either-of which could impact
our cash flow and operating results.

Because our lawn and garden products are used primarily in the spring and summer, Garden Products”
business is seasonal. In fiscal 2003, approximately. 65% of Garden Products’ net sales and 59% of our total net

32




sales occurred during our second and third fiscal quarters. Substantially all of Garden Products’ operating income
and cash flow is generated in this period. Our working capital needs and our borrowings generally peak near the
middle of our second fiscal quarter because we are generating fewer revenues while incurring expenses in.
preparation for the spring selling season. If cash on hand and borrowings under our credit facilities are ever
insufficient to meet our seasonal needs or if cash flow generated during the spring and summer is insufficient to-
repay our borrowings on a timely basis, this seasonality could have a material adverse effect on our business.

.Because demand for lawn and garden products is significantly influenced by weather, particularly weekend
weather during the peak gardening season, our results of operations and cash flow could also be adversely
affected by certain weather patterns such as unseasonably cool or warm temperatures, water shortages or floods.
During the last several years, our results of operations and cash flow were negatively affected by severe weather
conditions in some parts of the United States.

Our operating results and cash flow are susceptible to fluctuations.

We expect to continue to experience variability in our net sales, net income and cash flow on a quarterly
basis. Factors that may contribute to this variability include:

. weather conditions during peak gardening seasons and seasonality;
¢ shifts in demand for lawn and garden products;
» shifts in demand for pet products;
* changes in product mix, service levels and pricing by us and our competitors;
» the effect of acquisitions, including the costs of acquisitions that are not completed; and

* economic stability of retail customers.

These fluctuations could negatively impact our business and the market price of our common stock.

Our success is dependent upon retaining key'personnel.

Our future performance is substantially dependent upon the continued services of William E. Brown, our
Chairman, Glenn W. Novotny, our President and Chief Executive Officer, and Brooks M. Pennington III, the -
President of our Pennington subsidiary. The loss of the services of any of these persons could have a material
adverse effect upon us. In addition, our future performance depends on our ability to attract and retain skilled
employees. We cannot assure you that we will be able to retain our existing personnel or attract additional
qualified employees in the future.

Some of the products that we mhnufacture and distribute require governmental permits and also subject us to
potential environmental liabilities.

Many of the products that we manufacture and distribute are subject to regulation by federal, state and local
authorities. Such regulations are often complex and are subject to change. Environmental regulations may affect
us-by restricting the manufacturing or use of our products or regulating their disposal. Regulatory or legislative
changes may cause future increases in our operating costs or otherwise affect operations. Although we believe we
are and have been in substantial compliance with such regulations and have internal guidelines on the handling
and disposal of our products, there is no assurance that in the future we may not be adversely affected by such -
regulations or incur increased operating costs in complying with such regulations. However, neither the
compliance with regulatory requirements nor our environmental procedures can ensure that we will not be
subject to claims for personal injury, property damages or governmental enforcement. In addition, while we do
not anticipate having to make, and historically have not had to make, significant capital expenditures to comply
with applicable environmental laws and regulations, due to the nature of our operations and the frequently
changing nature of environmental compliance standards and technology, we cannot predict with any certainty
that future material capital expenditures will not be required.
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In addition to operational standards, environmental laws also impose obligations on various entities to clean
up contaminated properties or to pay for the cost of such remediation, often upon parties that did not actually
cause the contamination. Accordingly, we may become liable, either contractually or by operation of law, for
remediation costs even if the contaminated property is not presently owned or operated by us, or if the
contarhination was caused by third parties during or prior to our ownership or operation of the property. With our
extensive acquisition history, we have acquired a number of manufacturing and distribution facilities. Given the
nature of the past operations conducted by us and others at these properties, there can be no assurance that all
potential instances of soil or groundwater contamination have been identified, even for those properties where an
environmental site assessment has been conducted. While we are not subject to-any existing remediation-
obligations, future events, such as changes in existing laws or policies or their enforcement, or the discovery of
currently unknown contamination, may give rise to future remediation liabilities that may be material. See
“Item 3 — Legal Proceedings, Phoenix Fire.” ’

The products that we manufacture could expose s to product liability claims.

Our business exposes us o potential product liability risks, which are inherent in the manufacture and
distribution of certain of our products. Although we generally seek to insure against such risks, there can be no
assurance that such coverage is adequate or that we will be able to maintain such insurance on acceptable terms.
A successful product liability claim in excess of our insurance coverage could have a material adverse effect on
us and could prevent us from obtaining adequate product liability insurance in the future on commercially
reasonable terms.

We have pending litigation-which could adversely impact our operating resullts.

We are a party to certain legal proceedings, including the litigation between us and Scotts and litigation
arising from a fire which destroyed our Phoenix, Arizona facility. We are currently unable to determine the total
expense or possible loss, if any, that may ultimately be incurred in the resolution of our legal proceedings.
Regardless of the ultimate outcome of our legal proceedings, they could result in significant diversion of time by
our management. The results of our pending legal proceedings, including any potential settlements, are uncertain
and we cannot assure you that the outcome of these disputes wiil not adversely affect our operating results. See
“Item 3 — Legal Proceedings.” ‘

The holders of our Class B stock, through their voting power, can greatly influence control of Central.

As of December 1, 2003, William E. Brown, our Chairman, controlled approximately 46% of the voting " .
power of our capital stock. Accordingly, he can effectively control all matters requiring stockholder approval,
including the power to elect all of our directors. Holders of Class B stock are entitled to the lesser of ten votes per
share or 49% of the total votes cast. Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote for each share owned. The
holders of Class B stock have 49% of the combined voting power, subject to the aforementioned voting
restrictions. Holders of Class B stock are likely to be able to elect ail of our directors, control our management
and policies and determine the outcome of any matter submitted to a vote of our stockholders, except to the
extent that a class vote of the common stock is required by applicable law. The disproportionate voting rights of
our common stock and Class B stock could have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.
Such disproportionate voting rights may make us a less attractive target for a takeover than we otherwise might
be, or render more difficult or discourage a merger proposal, a tender offer or a proxy contest, even if such
actions were favored by our common stockholders. Accordingly, such disproportionate voting rights may deprive
holders of common stock of an opportunity to sell their shares at a premium over prevailing market prices, since
takeover bids frequently involve purchases of stock directly from stockholders at such a premium price.




Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk -

We are exposed to market risks, which include changes in U.S. interest rates and commodity prices and, to a
lesser extent, foreign exchange rates. We do not engage in financial transactions for trading or speculative purposes.

Interest Rate Risk. The interest payable on our credit facility is based on variable interest rates and therefore
affected by changes in market interest rates. If interest rates on our variable rate debt had changed by 10% -
compared to actual rates, interest expense would have increased or decreased by approximately $0.4 million in
fiscal 2003 and $0.6 million in fiscal 2002. In addition, we have fixed income investments consisting of cash
equivalents and short-term investments in marketable debt securities, which are also affected by changes in
market interest rates. Subsequent to year end, we entered into a $75 million pay-floating interest rate swap
effectively converting 50% of our $150 million fixed rate 9¥s% Senior Subordinated Notes dné'2013 toa’
floating rate of LIBOR + 4 04%. C -

Commodity Prices. We are exposed to fluctuation in market prices for grains and grass seed.. To mitigate
risk associated with increases in market prices and comm0d1ty availability, we enter into contracts for grains,
bird feed and grass seed purchases. Such contracts are prlmarlly entered into to ensure comimodity availability to
us in the future. As of September 27, 2003, we had entered into fixed seed purchase commitments for fiscal 2004
totaling approximately $66.6 million. A 10% change in the market price for grain and grass seed would have
resulted in an additional pretax gain or loss of $6.7 million related to the contracts outstanding as -of September
27, 2003. As of September 28, 2002, we had entered into fixed seed purchase commitments for fiscal 2003
totaling approximately $72.5 million. A 10% change in the market price for grain and grass seed would have
resulted in an additional pretax gain or loss of $7.3 million related to the contracts outstanding as of September
28, 2002.

Foreign Currency Risks. To date, we have had minimal sales outside of the United States. Purchases made
from foreign vendors are primarily made in U.S. dollars. Therefore, we have only minimal exposure to foreign
currency exchange risk. We do not hedge against foreign currency risks and believe that foreign currency
exchange risk is immaterial to our current business.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Board of Directors
Central Garden & Pet Company
Lafayette, California-

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets'of Central Garden & Pet Company and
subsidiaries as of September 27, 2003 and September 28, 2002, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the fiscal years in the thrée-year period ended -
September 27, 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the-Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. -

* We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Central Garden & Pet Company and subsidiaries as of September 27, 2003 and September 28, 2002,
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the fiscal years in the three-year period ended
September 27, 2003 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in'Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Asséts, effective September 30, 2001.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

December 9, 2003
San Francisco, California
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CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

September 27, September 28,
2003 2002

(dollars in thousands)

. ASSETS .
Current assets: . e . :
Cash and: cash eqmvalents ..................... U . $ 77604 % 10,884
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $6,575 and
0 i 146,075 130,984
InVentOrIES ... i 217,156 193,159
Prepaid expenses and other assets .............. ... ... . oo 15222 26,096
Total current-assets . .......oovie e . 456,057 361,123
Land, buildings, improvements and equipment: ’ ‘ i : ‘ :
Land ... e e e 5,313 5,381
Buildings and improvements ......... e e e e S 60,951 62,196
Transportation éq’uipmeht TN PR © 6,156 5,753
Machinery and warehouse equipment .................coiviitiiiie.. 71,575 65,634
Office furniture and equ1pment ....................... R e 34,708 33,466
Tl .« oottt T 184,703 172,430
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization .............. ... ... . 83,165 © 71,566
Land, buildings, 1mprovements and equipment-net .................... 101,538 100,864
Goodwill .. ...... e e e e e R S 222,780 222,489
Deferred income taxes and other assets . ......... .ot unecnen... 48,723 47,481 .

Total. $ 829,098  § 731,957

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Notes payable . ... ... e $ — $ 59,975
Accounts payable . ... ... .. e 105,103 96,796
AcCrued BXPENSES . . ... e 47,061 42,742
Current portion of long-termdebt . ...... ... .. ... ... .. .. ... . .. ' 1,028 7,593
Total current liabilities .. ... .. 153,192 207,106
Long-term debt . ... ... . i e 249,225 145,331
Other long-term obligations ... ... i i 1,585 2,012
Commitments and CORLINEZENCIES ... ... vv ittt cieneens — —
Shareholders’ equity:
Class B StocK ..ot e 16 16
Common StOCK . ... .. e 319 310
Additional paid-incapital ......... ... ... e 545,228 532,290
Retained earnings (deficit) . ........ .. ... . . 24,360 (10,281)
Treasury StOCK . ... .o e (144,827) (144,827)
Total shareholders’ equity ............ ... ... .. i i, 425,096 377,508

Total ..o $ 829,098  $ 731,957

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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© CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Fiscal Year Ended
_ September 27, September 28, September 29,
S 2003 2002 2001
' o (in thousands, except per share amounts)
Netsales .............. e e . $1,145,001  $1,077,780  $1,122,999
Cost of goods sold and OCCUPANCY .. ....vwvv... Feaeeneii 811,562 757,437 811,186
Gross profit .. ......o.oveeins. S . L 333439 320,343 311,813
Selling, general and administrative expenses .. .. ... e 261,098 267,579 297,751
Income from operationis ........... ... ... e 72,341 52,764 14,062
IntereSt EXpense . ... ....coiiiiiii i i e s (19,747) (14,745) (23,247
Interestincome ............. (U 545 . 137 164
Otherincome ..........coiiiiererenannn.. O 2,522 . 5,548 1,631
Income (loss) before income taxes and cumulative effect of ) ' :
accountingchange ............. ... ... ... ... P 55,661 43,704 (7,390)
Income taxes ............ooiiiiit, e e . © 21,020 15,159 (247
Income (loss) before cumulatwe effect of accounung change ..... .. 34,641 28,545 (7,143)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, netoftax ............... — (112,237) —_
Net income (loss) ......... S U e $. 34641 $§ (83,692) $ (7,143)
Basic income (loss) per common equivalent share: o
Before cumulative effect of accounting change .............. $ .79 § 154  $ (0.39)
Cumulative effect of accounting change . .. Bl S — (6.04) . —
Basic income (loss) per common equlvalent share .......... $ 1.79 % 4.50) % (0.39)
Diluted income (loss) per common equivalent shane: ' , : '

" Before cumulative effect of accounting change .............. $ 173 % 144 § (0.39)
Cumulative effect of accounting change .. ... e — . {(4.88) =
Diluted income (loss) per common equivalent share .......... $ 1.73  § (B4 $  (0.39

Weighted average shares used.in the computation of income per - ’
common equivalent share : ) _
Basic .............. e 19,327 18,581 18,402

Diluted ........... U U . 20,081 23,009 18,402

Seé notes to consolid‘a“t‘ed‘ﬁnanciél statements,
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CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY
" CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
“eilNetIncome (JOSS). . v o i s L e b i
‘Adjustments to reconcile net income (10ss) to net cash provided-
by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization. .. .....................
Cumulative effect of accounting change’
" Goodwill impairment charge ‘-
Deferred InCOME taXes . v ot v o s e e v e i
Loss on sale of land, building and 1mprovements ........
Changes in assets and hablhtles

' Receivables. -

Inventories:. ... ... . ..ol U0 e

Prepaid expenses and Gthér assets: . '.", il
" ~"Accounts payable. . T TR LA S S

Accrued expenses.’ . . UL Pt ER D

Other long-term obligations. . . ...................

o
e

Cash ﬂows from investing activities: . 4
Additions to land, buildings, 1mpr0vemems and eqmpment
Payments 10 acqurre companies, net of.cash acquired. -

" 'Net cash used by i investing activities."..". .. ... "

Cash flows from financing activities:

Repayments under lines of credit, net. .......... e -

Payments on long-term debt.
Proceeds from issuance of 1ong -term debt
Proceeds from issuance of stock.
. Deferredﬁnancmgcosts

Yy -

Net cash prov1ded (used) by ﬁnancmg
activities. .. ... e

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year. ......... e

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year.

Supplémental inforrmiation:

"Cashpaid for interest. ... 71, 1. oL Lo

Cash paid for incomé taxes = net of refunds. ............ Vo
Assets (excluchng cash) acqulred through purchase of

subsidiaries. -

) Liabilities assumed through purchase of subsrdlanes

Net cash provided by operating act1v1tles Ceeee

Fiscal Year Ended

" .1 September 27,
2003

See notes to consolidated financial statements..
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September 28, September 29,

2002 2001

.(in thousands)

$.34,641.  $(83,692) -:$ (7,143)
17,878 17.616 28362

— - 146,748 —

— 2,750 C—
9,037 (26,065) - - 10,251
204 1,142 - 312
©(15,001) 10,807 13,099
©.(23,997) - 24743 . 25444
11,454 4555 . (19,106)
8,307 - - (31,088) 4,900
9,196 - 4,561 5,606
(427) 736 (22,911)
51,202 72,813 38,814
C 7958 (10907)  (13.888)
(22,572)°  (10,907) . (32:165)
(59.975) (59,448) (9.816)
(152,671) (5,751 (12,844),
" 250,000 — 118,000
© 8,070 5,885 " 618
(7,334) — —
38,090 (59,314) (4,042)

" 66,720 2,592 - 2,607
10884  8292° 5,685
$ 77,604 S 10,884  $ 87292
$ 18,656 T $ 154710 $22,690-
1467 4,340 4,775
— — 8,282

5 .



CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fiscal Years Ended September 27, 2003,
September 28, 2002 and September 29, 2001

1. Orgamzatlon and Significant Accountmg Policies

- Organization — Central Garden & Pet Company, a Delaware corporation, and subsidiaries (the “Company”
or “Central”), is a leading marketer and producer of quality branded products for the pet and lawn and garden
supplies markets. ‘ :

Basis of Consolidation and. Presentation — The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Company. The Company’s shares of the earnings of its minority interest in equity-method investees has been
recorded under the caption “Other income.” All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated. - :

Use of Estimates ~ The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires that management make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period including accounts receivable and inventory valuation and goodwill lives. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Revenue Recognition — Sales are recorded, net of estimated returns, discounts and volume-based rebate
incentives, when merchandise is shipped, title passes to the customer and the Company has no further obligations
to provide services related to such merchandise. The Company’s current practice on product returns generally is
to accépt and credit the return of unopened cases of products from customers where the quantity is small, where
the product has been misshipped or the product is defective. Sales also include amounts billed directly to
customers related to shipping and handling.

Cost of goods sold and occupancy consist of costs to acquire or manufacture inventory, certain indirect
purchasing, merchandise handling and storage costs, as well as allocations of certam facﬂxty costs, mcludmg rent,
payroll; property taxes, security, utilities, insurance and maintenance.

Advertising Costs — The Company expenses the costs of advertising as incurred. Advertising expenses were
$15.7 million, $12.9 million and $14.9 million in fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

401(k) Plans — The Company sponsors several 401(k) plans which éover substantially all employees.
Expenses recorded for the Company’s matching contributions under these plans were $931,000, $553,000 and
$860,000 for fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. ’

7 Other income in ﬁséal yez;rs 2003, 2002 and 2001 consists of earnings from equity method investments.
Fiscal year 2002 also includes $6 million of life insurance proceeds, partially offset by $2.8 million in charges
related to the write-off of goodwill associated with an unsuccessful equity method investment.

. Income Taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No, 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”. Deferred income taxes
result primarily from bad debt allowances, inventory and goodwill write-downs, dépreciation and nondeductible
reserves.

Cash and cash equivalents include all hlghly hqu1d debt 1nstruments purchased with a maturity of three
months or less at the date of acquisition.”
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Inventories, which primarily consist of garden preducts and pet supplies finished goods, are stated at the
lower of FIFO cost or market. Cost includes certain indirect purchasing, merchandise handling and storage costs
including certain salary and data processing costs incurred 1o acquire or manufacture inventory, costs to unload,
process and put.away shipments received in order to prepare them.to be picked for orders, and certain other -,
overhead costs. The amounts of such costs capitalized to inventory are computed based on an estimate of costs
related to the procurement and processmg of inventory to prepaxe it for sale compared to total product purchases

Long -lived assets ~ The Company reviews its long hved assets for potential impairment based on a review
of prolected\undlscounte_d cash flows associated with these assets. Long-lived assets are included in-impairment
evaluations when events and circumstances. exist that indicate the carrying amount of those assets may not be
recoverable. Measurement of impairment losses for long-lived assets that the Company expects to hold and use is
based on the. estrmated fair value of the assets.

Land buildings, lmprovements and equlpment are, stated at cost Deprecratron is computed by the strarght-
line method over thirty years for buildings. Improvements are amomzed on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the useful life of the asset or the terms of the related leases. Deprecratlon on equipment is computed by the
straight-line and accelerated methods over the estimated useful lives of 3 to 10 years.

Goodwill is the ex_cess of the purchase price over the fair value of net ass_ets" acquired in business
combinations accounted for under the purchase method. Prior to fiscal year 2002, the Company amortized
goodwill on a straight-line basis over the periods benefited, ranging from 20 to 40 years. The Company adopted
SFAS No. 142 effective September 30, 2001 (the beginning of fiscal year 2002). Upon adoption of SFAS No.
142, the Company stopped the amortization of goodwill, and began performing an annual assessment for
potent1a1 impairment applying a fair-value based test (see Note 5).

Fazr Value of Financial Instruments - At September, 27,2003 and September 28, 2002, the carrying amount
of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and non convertible debt approximates its
fair value. The fair value of the Company’s $150 million senior subordinated notes was $163.5 million at
September 27, 2003 which was determined by companson to quoted market pnces

Derivative Financial Instruments — On October 1, 2000, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133, Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. SFAS No. 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards
for derivative instruments, hedging activities, and exposure definition. SFAS No. 133 requires.that all derivatives
be recogmzed as either assets or liabilities at fair value. Derivatives that are not hedges must be adjusted to fair
value through income. If the derivative is a hedge, depending on the nature of the hedge, changes in fair value
will either be offset against the change in fair value of the hedged assets, liabilities, or firm commitments through
earnings, or recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings.

Prior to October 1, 2000, at which time the Company adopted SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” subsidiaries of the Company had entered into interest rate swap agreements
to hedge certain interest rate risks which were accounted for using the settlement basis of accounting. Premiums
paid on such interest rate swap agreements were deferred and amortized to interest expense over the life of the
underlying hedged instrument, or immediately if the uniderlying hedged instrument was settled. As interest rates
change, the differential between the interest rate received and the interest rate paid under the interest rate swap
arrangements was reflected in interest expense quarterly.” As of October 1, 2000, the Company has accounted for
any remarmng 1nterest rate swap agreements in accordance with the provrsrons of SFAS-133, as amended

Subsequent to the end of ﬁscal 2003 the Company entered into a §75 rmlhon pay—ﬂoatmg interest rate swap
effectively converting 50% of its $150 million fixed rate 9 ¥& percent senior subordinated notes to a floating rate
of LIBOR + 4.04%. :
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Stock-based compensation — The Company has one stock-based employee compensation plan, as described in
Note 10. The Company accounts for its employee stock-based awards using the intrinsic value method in
accordance with Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,”. No
compensation expense is recognized for employee stock options, because it is the Company’s practice to grant stock
optlons with an exercise pr1ce equal to the market pnce of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.

SFAS No. 123, “Accountmg for Stock~Based Compensatlon requires the disclosure of pro forma net
earnings and earnings per share had the Company adopted the fair value method as of the beginning of fiscal
1997. Proforma disclosure of the effect on net income and earnings per share as if the fair value-based method
had been applied in measuring compensation expense has been provided. These calculations require subjective
assumptions, including future stock price volatility and expected time to exercise, which greatly affect the
calculated values. The Company’s calculations were made using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following weighted average assumptions: expected life of four years from date of grant; stock volatility, 42% in
fiscal 2003, 52% in fiscal 2002 and 55% in fiscal 2001; risk free interest rates, 2.83% in fiscal 2003 3.09% in
fiscal 2002 and 3.98% in fiscal 2001 and no d1v1dends during the expected term.

The Company’s calculations are based on a single option valuation approach and forfeitures are recognized
as they occur. If the computed fair values of the fiscal 1998 through 2003 awards had been amortized to expense
in the consolidated financial statements over the vesting period of the awards, pro forma net income (loss) would
have been as follows:

i Fiscal Year Ended
September 27,2003 September 28,2002 September 29, 2001
. . (in thousands)

Net income (loss), asreported .............. R $34,641 $(83,692) $ (7,143)

‘Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation \ ' T

expense determined under fair value based - . ' :
method for awards, net of related tax effects ... = = (1,820) = $ (2,663) "% (3,844)
Pro forma net income (loss) ......... T ‘ $32,821 " $(86,355) $(10,987)

Net income (loss) per common equlvalent share: s '

Basic —asreported ........... PR $ 179 $ (4.50) '$ (039
Basm—proforma P $°1.70 $ (4.65) $ (0.60)
Diluted — as reported .. ..........: S $ 173 $ (344) S (039)
Diluted -proforma ......... P $ 1.63 $ (3.56) $ (0.60)

Comprehensive income — SFAS No. 130 requires an enterprise to report, by major components and as a
single total, the change in its net assets, during the period from non-owner sources. The Company does not have
any items of Other Comprehensive Income, as defined by SFAS No. 130, and thus Net Income is equal to
Comprehensive Income. ~

:‘Recent Accounting Pronouncements ~ In May 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both-Liabilities and
Equity.” SFAS No. 150 establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and measures certain financial
instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. It requires that an issuer classify a financial
instrument that is within its scope as a liability (or an asset in some circumstances). This Statement is effective
for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning
of the first interim period beginning after June'15, 2003. The adoptlon of SFAS No. 150 did not have an 1mpact
on the Company’s financial statements.
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In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities. FIN 46 clarifies the application of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, explains how to identify
variable interest entities, and how to determine-whether to consolidate such entities. FIN 46 requires existing
unconsolidated entities to be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries if the entities do not effectively disperse
risks among parties involved. The adoption of. FIN 46 did not have an impact on our results of operations or
financial position.. :

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition
and Disclosure.”-SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to provide
alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-
based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements of APB Opinion No.
28, Interim Financial Reporting, to require proforma disclosure in interim financial statements by companies that
elect to account for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method prescribed in APB Opinion No. 25.
The Company continues to use the intrinsic value method of accounting for stock-based compensation. As a result,
the transition provisions do not have an effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45 (FIN 45), Guarantor’s Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. FIN 45
elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a guarantor and clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at
the inception of the guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee,
The adoption of the disclosure and recognition and measurement provisions of FIN 45, effective beginning
December 29, 2002, did not have an impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities,” which addresses accounting for restructuring and similar costs. SFAS No. 146 supersedes previous
accounting guidaiice, principally Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 94-3. SFAS No. 146 requires that the
liability for costs associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. SFAS
No. 146 also establishes that the liability should initially be measured and recorded at fair value. Accordingly,
SFAS No. 146 may affect the timing of recognizing future restructuring costs as well as the amounts recogmzed
The Company will apply the provisions of SFAS No. 146 for any future restructuring activities.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets,” that replaced SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets for Long-
Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of.” SFAS No. 144 requires that long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale,.
including those of discontinued operations, be measured at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to
sell, whether reported in continuing operations or in discontinued operations. Liabilities for discontinued
operations will no longer include amounts for operating losses that have not yet been incurred. SFAS No. 144
also broadens the reporting of discontinued operations to include all components of an entity with operations that
can be distinguished from the rest of the entity and that will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the
entity in a disposal transaction. The Company has adopted SFAS No. 144 for its fiscal year beginning September
29, 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 144 did not have an impact on the financial position, results of operations or
cash flows of the Company.

In-July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets”. SFAS No. 142 changes the accounting for goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite lives from an amortization method to an impairment approach. Other intangible assets will continue to
be amortized over their estimated useful lives. Amortization of goodwill, including goodwill recorded in prior
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business combinations, ceased upon the adoption of the standard, which the Company adopted for the fiscal year
beginning September 30, 2001. As required by SFAS No. 142, the Company performed its transitional goodwill
impairment analysis, and recorded a non-cash charge to Write down goodwill in its Garden Products segment of
$51.9 million ($42.1 million after tax) and in its Pet Products segment of $94.8 million ($70.1 million after tax).
As of June 29,2003, and June 30, 2002, the Company performed its annual goodwill impairment analyses. Based
on the results of those analyses, no additional reduction of goodwill was required during fiscal years 2003 or’
2002.

The following ﬁnanmal information-is presented as if SFAS No: 142 was adopted at the beginning of ﬁscal
year 2001: :

Fiscal Year Ended
September 27, September 28, September 29,
2003 to 2002 - . 2001
3 : - o vt (in thousands, except per share amounts)
Reported net income (loss) . ....... T Ll . $34,641 $(83,692) - $(7,143)
Goodwill amortization —netoftax .. .......... ... — — 9,006
Net income (loss), as adjusted ...........0.........00. 00 834,641 $(831692)  $ 1,863
Basic income (loss) pef share: } o . ', . . . }
~ Reported income (1088} ... ..ot e e $L79$ (450 . $ (0.39)
Goodwill amortization ~ net of tax . e e e e — v T 0.49
Basic income (loss) per share .. .......... e I See.. 8 LT79 © 8§ (4.50) $ 0.10 -
Diluted income (loss) per share: ‘
Reported income (10$8) .. ........... U ‘$ 173 $ (344) © $ (039
‘Goodwill amortization —netof tax . ...... i Tl = © 049
Diluted income (loss) per share, as adjusted . .. e . e s 173 ‘ $ (3.44) $ 0.10

2. Acquisitions
Fiscal 2003

In July 2003, the Company acquired a 49% equity interest in the E. M."Matson lawn and garden business.
E. M: Matson is a lawn and garden manufacturer in the Western United States, which markets and sells slug &
snail products moss controls and animal repellants under the Corry s, Deadhne and Moss B- Ware brand names.
Annual sales are approx1mate1y $8 mllhon

Fiscal 2001

In October 2000, the Company’s Pennington subsidiary acquired the Rebel and Lofts linés of grass seed
(“Lofts and Rebel”) from KRB Seed Company, LLC (“KRB™), for approximately $8 million in cash. Lofts and i
Rebel represented a portion of a business which KRB acquired out of bankruptcy. The purchase price’
approximated the fair market value of the tangible assets acquired. The Company also signed perpetual licensing
agreements under which the Company will make royalty payments to KRB over the term of the licensing
agreements. The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method. Royalty payments will be recorded as
expense as they-are incurred. The results of operations associated with this acquisition have been included in the
Company’s results of operations since October 2000. Sales of approx1mately $16 million attributable to Lofts and
Rebel were included in net sales for fiscal 2001. . s :
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3. Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Customers and Suppliers

Customer Conicentration - Approximately 50%, 48% and 46% of the Company’s net sales for fiscal years
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, were derived from sales to the Company’s top ten customers. The Company’s
largest customer accounted for approx1mate1y 21%, 20% and 21% of the Company’s net sales for fiscal years
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The Company’s second’ largest customet accounted for approximately 8%,
7% and 7% of the Company’s net sales for fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The Company’s ‘third
largest customer accounted for approximately 7%, 6% and 6% of the Company s net sales for fiscal years 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively. The loss of, or significant adverse change in, the relationship betwéen the Company
and these three customers could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business and financial results.
The loss of or reduction in orders from any significant customer, losses arising from customer disputes regarding
* shipments, fees, merchandise condition or related matters, or the Company’s inability to collect accounts
receivable from any major customer could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s business and
financia] results. As of each of September 27, 2003 and September 28, 2002, accounts receivable from the
Company’s top ten customers comprised 54% and 47% of the Company s total accounts recelvable, including
17% and 15% from the Company ) largest customer, respecnvely

Supplier Concentration — While the Company purchases products from over 1,000 different manufacturers
and suppliers, approximately 8%, 7% and 15% of the Company’s net sales in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively, were derived from products purchased from the Company’s five largest suppliers.

4. Allowance for Doubtful Ac_eounts' )
The éhanges in the reserve for doubtful accounts ar€ summarized below (in thousands):

Balances at Charged to- - Balances at

Beginning  Costs and Asset . End of
Description of Period Expenses  Write-Offs Period
Year ended September 27, 2003 .. G PP Sl $ 7,597 $1,778 $2,800 $ 6,575
Year ended September 28,2002 ... .. PN e e 14,4064 2,043 8,910 7,597

Year ended September 29,2001 ............ ..., .. 8050 9302 2888 14464

5. Goodwill

The changes in the’ carrylng amount of goodw1ll for the years ended September 27, 2003, and September 28
2002, are as follows (in thousands)

~ Garden Products Pet Products ’
Segment (1) Segment (1) Corporate Total

Balance as of September 29,2001 ................. ... $157,325 $211,912  $2,750 $ 371,987
Impairment loss resultmg from the cumulatwe effect of

accounting change ............ ..\ SRR '., ....... (51,935) - (94,813) — (146,748)
Impamnent 1osses .o.oviinn.. PP FU = — - (2,750)  C(2,750)
Balance as of Séptember 28, 2002 ...... DI _ Lloo.0 105390 0 117,099 0 — 0 222,489
Goodwill additions ................ e e ' 291 - — — 291

Balance as ofSeptember 27,2003 ... ..., R 8105681 $117,099 $ —  $222,780 °

(1) Goodwﬂl balances and goodwﬂl amortization have been mcluded in Corporate for segment reportmg
purposes in Note 14. ’ :
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Goodwill balances within the Garden Products and Pet Products segments were tested for impairment as of
September 30, 2001, the date the Company adopted SFAS 142. As discussed in Note 1, the Company recorded an
impairment charge of $146.7 million.to write down goodwill upon adoption of the SFAS No. 142. The Company
also performed its annual goodwill impairment analysis on the first day of the Company’s fiscal 2003 and 2002
fourth quarters, using a valuation model based on estimated future operating results and cash flows. This analysis
indicated that no additional adjustments were required to the remaining goodwill balances. The impairment loss
of $2,750,000 recorded in fiscal year 2002 was related to the write-off of goodwill associated W1th an
unsuccessful equlty method mvestment unrelated to adoption of SFAS No. 142.

6. Notes Payable

In fiscal 2002, the Company had a credit fac111ty providing the Company and certain of its subsidiaries with
an aggregate revolving loan commitment up to $175.0 million, with availability fluctuating based upon the value
of assets eligible for inclusion in the borrowmg base under the terms of the credit facility. At September 28,

2002, a balance of $34.0 million was outstanding, under this agreement bearing mterest at a rate based on LIBOR
plus 2% (3.8% at September 28, 2002). The Company terminated this credit facﬂlty in the third quarter of fiscal
2003. _

The Company also had available through its Pennington subsidiary a $95 million line of credit as of
September 28, 2002. At September 28, 2002, the Company had $26.0 million of borrowings under this line of
credit facility. The remaining available borrowing capacity at September 28, 2002 was $52.3 million. Interest
related to this line was based on a rate either equal to LIBOR plus 1.375% or thie prime rate, at the Company’s
option. The line of credit contained certain restrictive financial covenants, requiring maintenance of minimum
levels of interest coverage, cash flow coverage and net worth and maximum funded debt to EBITDA. The line
also did not allow the payment of d1V1dends The Company terminated this credit facility in the second quarter of
fiscal 2003

The Company also had avallable through its All-Glass Aquarium subsidiary a $10 million line of credit. As’
of September 28, 2002, the Company had no outstanding borrowings under this line of credit fac111ty The
remaining available borrowing capacity at September 28, 2002 was $10.0 million. Interest related to this line was
based on a rate equal to the prime rate less 0.5% or LIBOR plus a margin (2.0% at September 28, 2002) which
fluctuated from 1.25% to 2.38%, determined quarterly based on EBITDA for the most recent trailing twelve -
month period. The line of credit was secured by a General Business Security Agreement and contained certain
restrictive financial covenants, requiring maintenance of minimum levels of net worth and debt service coverage
and maximum funded debt to EBITDA. The line also did not allow the payment of dividends. The Company
terminated this credit facility in the second quarter of fiscal 2003.

7. Long-Terth Debt

In May 2003, the Company obtained a new $200 million senior secured credit facility which included a
five-year $100 million revolving credit facility and a six-year term loan. Interest on the revolving credit facility is
based on a rate equal to prime plus a margin which fluctuates from 0.25% to 1.25% or LIBOR plus a margin
which fluctuates from 1.75% to 2.75%, determined quarterly based on consolidated total debt to consolidated
EBITDA for the most recent trailing 12- month period. This facility is secured by essentially all of the Company s
assets, contains certain financial covenants requiring maintenance of minimum levels of interest coverage and
tangible net worth and maximum levels of senior debt to Earning Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and
Amortization (“EBITDA”) and total debt to EBITDA and restricts the Company’s ability to make treasury stock
purchases and pay dividends. This facility also requires the lenders’ prior written consent to any material
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investments in or acquisitions of a business. The new facility replaced our $175 million asset-based revolving
credit facility. No balances were outstanding at September 27, 2003 under the $100 million revolving credit
facility and the remaining available borrowing capacity at September 27, 2003 was $94.8 million.

Long-term debt consists of the following::

Senior Subordmated Notes, interest at 9.125% payable semi- annually, principal due
February 20013
Term Loan, interest at LIBOR + 2.75% or the prime rate + 1.25%, quarterly
principal payments of $250,000 and interest payable quarterly, remaining balance
due May 2000 . ... o e e
Convertible subordinated notes, interest at 6% payable semi-annually, principal due
November 15, 2003; convertible at the option of the holder into shares of
common stock of the Company, at any time prior to redemptmn or maturity, it a
conversion price of $28.00 per share (equal to a conversion rate of 35. 7143
shares per $1,000 principal amount of notes) ..:.......coonviernii ... e
Promissory note, interest at 7% with annual principal and interest payments of

$5,550,289 through 2004 .. ... .. ..o e

Note payable to bank, interest at floating ratés; payable in monthly principal
payments of $60,000 plus interest with unpaid balance due September 30,
200
Industrial development revenue bonds due'in semi-annual sinking fund installments
of $140,000°beginning September 1, 2003 for 15 years; bearing interest at. .
floating rates (2% at September 28, 2002), secured by. letter of credit
collateralized by plant and equipment ................ oo,
Note payable to bank, interest at floating rates; payable in monthly principal . .
payments of $58,000 plus interest with unpaid balance due September 30,
200S
Industrial development revenue bonds due in annual sinking fund installments of
$305,000 to $310,000 through July 2010, bearing interest at floating rates,
secured by an unconditional letterof credit .. ...... ... ... .. .. . i
Mortgage note payable to bank, interest based on a formula (3.3% at September 28,
2002), principal and interest due in monthly installments through March 2012 . ..
Industrial development revenue bonds due in annual sinking fund installments of
$300,000 through December 2005, bearing interest at floating rates, secured by
an unconditional letterof credit ... .. ... L
Mortgage note payable to bank, interest at 6.75%; payable in monthly principal and
interest installments of $11,573 with unpaid balance due April 2007 . ..........
Industrial development revenue bonds due in annual sinking fund instaliments
ranging from $130,000 to $195,000 through July 2005, bearing interest at
floating rates, secured by an unconditional letter of credit ................ ...
Mortgage note payable to bank, interest based on a formula (3.3% at September 28,
2002), pnncrpal and interest due in monthly installments through December
2000
Industrial development revenue bonds due in quarterly sinking fund installments of
$35,000, final principal installment due March 2004, bearing 1nterest at ﬂoatmg

rates, secured by an uncondmonal Ietter of credit ..... et B
Other notes payable - ..... .. S e e e e -

“Total Lol ...........

Less current’ portlon of long-term debt B A
Total /..o ..o DS

September 27,
2003

September 28,
2002

“(in thousands)

$150,000

100,000

253

$ —

115,000
10,035

13,050
4390
2,100

2,475

1,418

1,200
1,279

520
943

210
304

250,253
1,028

152,924
7,593

$249,225

$145,331
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Principal repayments on long-term debt are scheduled as follows:

(in thousands)
Fiscal year:

2004 . el $ 1,028
20005 e e e 1,025
2006 .o e e 1,250
2007 ... e 1,000
2008 . e e 1,000
TherCalter . . .ottt e 244,950

371 $250,253

8. Commitments and Contingencies

Purchase commitments — Seed production and purchase agreements obligate the Company to make future
purchases based on estimated yields. These contracts vary in their terms, a portion of which have fixed prices or
quantities. At September 27, 2003, estimated annual seed purchase commitments were $66.6 million for fiscal
2004, $30.7 million for fiscal 2005, $21.9 million for fiscal 2006, $13.8 million for fiscal 2007 and $7.3 miilion
for fiscal 2008. ' ‘

Leases — The Company has opérating lease agreements principally for office and warehouse facilities and
equipment. Such leases have remaining terms of 1 to 8 years. Rental expense was $17.7 million, $18.8 million
and $19.9 million for fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Certain facility leases have renewal options and provide for additional rent based upon increases in the
Consumer Price Index.

Aggregate minimum annual payments on non-cancelable operating leases at September 27, 2003 are as.
follows:

(in thousands)

Fiscal year: o :

2004 ... e $13,872
2005 e [P 10,858
2006 . e S 6,327
2007 ... . e T 3,372
2008 .. e e 2,562
Thereafter ................... ..., e 4,918

TOtal .o e $41,909

TFH Litigation. In December 1997, Central acquired all of the stock of TFH Publications, Inc. (“TFH”). In
connection with the transaction, Central made a $10 million loan to the sellers, which was evidenced by a
Promissory Note. In September 1998, the prior owners of TFH brought suit against Central and certain
executives of Central for damages and relief from their obligations under the Promissory Note, alleging, among
other things, that Central’s failure to properly supervise the TFH management team had jeopardized their
prospects of achieving certain earnouts. Central believes that these allegations are without merit. Central
counterclaimed against-the prior owners for enforcement of the Promissory Note, rescission and/or damages and
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other relief, alleging, among other. things, fraud, misrepresentation and breach of fiduciary-duty by the prior
owners of TFH. These actions, Herbert R. Axelrod and Evelyn Axelrod v. Central Garden & Pet Company,; Glen
S. Axelrod; Gary Hersch; William E. Brown; Robert B. Jones; Glenn Novotny; and Neill Hines, Docket No.
MON-L-51.00-99, and TFH Publications; Inc. v. Herbert Axelrod et al., Docket No. L-2127-99 (consolidated
cases) are in the New Jersey Supenor Court. The Court has scheduled the trial to begm n February 2004.

Durmg the course of d1scovery in thlS action, Central has become aware. of certain. mformatlon Wthh shows
that prior to the.acquisition of TFH by Central, certain records of TFH were prepared in an inaccurate manner
which, among other things, resulted in underpayment of taxes by certain individuals. Those individuals could be
liable for back taxes, interest; and penaities. In addition; even though all of the évents occurred prior to the -
acquisition of TFH by Central, there is a possibility that TFH could be liable for penalties for events which
occurred under prior management. Central believes that TFH has strong defenses available to the assertion of any
penalties agairist TFH. Central cannot predict whether TFH will be required;to pay any such penalties. In the .
event that TFH were required‘ to pay penalties, Central would seek compensation .frorn the prior owners.

Central does niot believe that the outcome of the above matters w111 have a matenal adverse impact on 1ts
operatlons ﬁnanc1a1 posmon or tash flows. ’

" “Scotts Litigation. On June 30, 2000,‘ The Scotts Company filed suit against Central to collect the purchase
price of certain lawn and garden products previously sold to Central. See The Scotts Company v. Central Garden-
& Pet Company, Docket No. C2 00-755 (U.S. Dist Ct. N.D. Ohlo) Centra] filed its answér and a counter
complamt assertmg vanous clatms for breaches of contracts

In April 2002, trial occurred on the claims and counterclaims of the parties (excluding one oral contract
claim that was severed from the remainder of the case). The net verdict Was in favor of Scotts in the amount of
$10.4 million which had previously been recorded as an obhgauon by the Cornpany. Scotts and Central filed
post-trial motions. In a March 20, 2003 order, the dlstnct court denied Scotts’ motion for attorneys’ fees, granted
Scotts’ motion to set aside $750,000 of the jury amount awarded to Central, denied Central’s motion'for a new
trial, granted Central’s motion for prejudgment interest, and granted in part and denied in part Scotts’ motion for
prejudgment interest. The court directed each party to re-determine the amount of their respective interest claims
in light of the Court’s ruling and to submit their respective determinations. On July 11, 2003, the Court issued an
order resolving the remaining prejudgment interest issues and dirécting the parties to submit calculations in
accordance with its decision. Pursuant to this order, the Court awarded prejudgment interest to Scotts in the net
amount of $2. 827 miliion. On October 3, 2003, Central and Scotts settled the oral contract claim that had
prev1ous1y been ‘severed from the remainder of the case. Pursuant to the settlement, Scotts reduced the judgment
amount by $300,000. Central and Scotts have each filed notices of appeal from different aspects of the prior
judgment and post-judgment orders In connection with the appeal, Central has posted approximately $15 million
1nto an escrow account

~.On July 7, 2000 Central filed-suit against Scotts and Pharmac1a Corporation (formerly know as Monsanto
Company) seeking damages and injunctive relief for, among other th1ngs violations of the antitrust laws. See
Central Garden & Pet Company, v: The Scotts Company, and Pharmacia Corporation, formerly known as
Monsanto Company; Docket No. C 00 2465, (U.S. Dist Ct. N.D. Cal.). Pursuant to a settlement reached with
Pharmacia, Central and Pharmacia agreed that all antitrust claims against Pharmacia and Monsanto would be
resolved, and the federal action has been dismissed as to Pharmacia and Monsanto. In May 2002, Scotts filed a
motion for summary judgment in the federal action based on res judicata. The « coun granted the res Judlcata
motion. Central has appealed the judgment entereéd pursuant to the court’s ‘order. Oral argument on the appeal *
took place on November 6, 2003.
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Central does not believe that the outcome of the above remaining matters will have a material adversc
1mpact on its operations, financial position, or cash flows. »

Phaem‘x Fire. On August 2, 2000, a fire destroyed Central’s leased warehouse space in Phoenix, Arizona,
and an adjoining warehouse space leased by a third party. On July 31, 2001, the adjoining warehouse tenant filed
a lawsuit against Central and other parties in the Superior Court of Arizona, Maricopa County, seeking to recover
$47 million for property damage from the fire. See Cardinal Health Inc., et al. v. Central Garden & Pet
Company, et al., Civil Case No. CV2001-013152. Local residents also filed a purported class action lawsuit
alleging claims for bodily injury and property damage as a result of the fire. This lawsuit has now been settled as
to all parties, subject to Court approval. As part of the settlement, Central’s liability insurers will pay $8 million
on behalf of Central, once the settlement becomes final in early 2004. The building owner and several nearby
businesses have also filed lawsuits for property damage and business interruption, which are being coordinated
with the remaining tenant lawsuit: Each of these lawsuits is currently pending in the Superior Court of Arizona,
Maricopa County. The Arizona Department of Environmental Quality, after monitoring the cleanup operations
and asking Central, the building owner and the adjoining warehouse tenant to assess whether the fire and fire
suppression efforts may have caused environmental impacts to soil, groundwater and/or surface water, has now
issued a letter stating that Central need take no further action at the site with respect to environmental issues. In
early 2001, the EPA requested information relating to the fire. On July 17, 2002, the EPA informed Central that it
intended to file a civil administrative complaint seeking penalties of up to $350,000 for certain alleged post-fire
reporting violations. Central and the EPA have recently settled those allegations for $65,000. The overall amount
of the damages to all parties caused by the fire, and the overall amount of damages which Central may sustain as
a result of the fire, have not been quantified. At the time of the fire, Central maintained property insurance
covering losses to the leased premises, Central’s inventory and equipment, and loss of business income. Central
also maintained insurance providing $51 million of coverage (with no deductible) against third party liability.
Central believes that this insurance coverage will be available with respect to third party claims against Central if
parties other than Central are not found responsible. The precise amount of the damages sustained in the fire, the
ultimate determination of the parties respons_ible and the availability of insurarice coverage are likely to depend
on the outcome of complex litigation, involving numerous claimants, defendants and insurance companies.

9. Income Taxes

The pfovision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following:

Fiscal Year Ended
" September 27, September 28, September 29,
. 2003 0 . 2002 2001
. (in thousands)

Current: . , . : .
Federal. ... ... .. e, $10,454 $ 5,636 $ (9,151)
State. .. e e 1,529 1,079 (1,347)

Total. ................. P e e L 11,983 6,715 (10,498)

Deferred .................. . .......... D _ A 9,037 . (26,065) 10,251 l

Total ............... P $21,020 $(19,350)‘ $ (247)

Included i in the $19.4 million benefit recorded in fiscal 2002 is a benefit of $34.5 million related to the
cumulative effect of accounting change recorded durmg the ﬁscal year.
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A reconciliation of the statutory federal income. tax rate with the Company” s effecuve income tax rate 1s as
follows: :

'Fiscal Year Ended

September 27, September 28, September 29,
R v 220030 ¢ . 2002 . 12001
Statutory rate . . ................ ...l e 350% - 35.0% 35.0%
_. State income taxes, net of federat benefit . .................. e 20 i 2.0 0.6
' Nondeductlble expenses pnmamly goodwﬂl e o L - 038 -8 (29 7
Other ........... P P G — ©.1) ‘6
EffeCtive faX 1a1E . , ., .« yiveseesenniiaieteeanpeneeeeennn | 318%  188% | 3.3%

Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of “temporary differences” between amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and such amounts as measured by tax laws. The tax effect of temporary
dlfferences and carryforwards Wthh glve rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows

September 27, 2003 ) September 28 2002
Deferred = Deferred  Deferred  Deferred

Tax Tax Tax Tax
© Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
" (in ihnusands)

Current ' T e - - _
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable. . . . . . . .. T . $1374 - o $ 1,873
Inventory Write-dOWNS ... ...\ it i e 3808 - 4,044 . ‘
Prepaid expenses. .................... e PR ' $2,133 $2,058
Nondeductible reserves . . . . .. A SN ST 2142 3,147
State taxes! . t.. ...l i P - 1741 o 1,657

'Other.n.'.l'....'.: ...... P T62 - 71 '

Current ..... vl ol 1386 3874 9135 3715

Noncurrent: . . - S SRR L
Deprematlon and AMOTtIZAtON: o vie v v e e e e e ce e 5,705 . 13,027 L
JOINt Venture inCome. . . oo v i v v v v v St 860 - - 584
Other. ....... v, e e e 1,856 o 1,387 o

NONCUITENL. . .ot e et e e e e e 7,561 860 14,414 584

Total. ..o e $14,947 $4,734 $23,549 $4,299

10. Shareholders’ Equity '

At September 27, 2003, there were 80,000,000 shares of common stock ($0.01 par value) authorized, of
which 18,167,669 were outstanding.

At September 27, 2003, there were 3,000,000 shares of Class B stock (30.01 par value) authorized, of which
1,654,462 were outstanding. The voting powers, preferences and relative rights of the Class B stock are identical
to common stock in all respects except that (i) the holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share and
the holders of Class B stock are entitled to the lesser of ten votes per share or 49% of the total votes cast, (ii)
stock dividends on common stock may be paid only in shares of common stock and stock dividends on Class B
stock may be paid only in shares of Class B stock and (iii) shares of Class B stock have certain conversion rights
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and are subject to certain restrictions on ownership and transfer. Each share of Class B-stock is convertible into
one share of common stock, at the option of the holder. Additional shares of Class B stock may only be issued -
with majority approval of the holders of the common stock and Class B stock, voting as separate classes.

At September 27, 2003, there were 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock ($0.01 par value) authorized, of
which none were outstanding.

In August 1998, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a program for the Company to repurchase up
to $25 million of common shares. In several subsequent authorizations, the Company’s Board of Directors
increased such authorization up to $155 million of common shares as of December 1, 1999. As of September 30,
2000, the Company had repurchased approximately 13.7 million shares of its common stock for an aggregate '
price of approximately $143.8 million under this program There have been no repurchases since September 30,
2000. :

In February 2003, the Company adopted the 2003 Omnibus Equity Incentive.Plan (the ‘2003 Plan”) which
provides for the grant of options to key employees and consultants of the Company for the purchase of up to an
aggregate of 2.5 million shares of common stock of the Company. The 2003 Plan is administered by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, comprised of independent directors only, who must approve
individual awards to be granted, vesting and exercise of share conditions. The 2003 Plan replaced the 1993
Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “1993 Plan”) which, through January 2003 provided for the grant of options
to key employees and consultants of the Company for the purchase of up to an aggregate of 4.8 million shares of
common stock of the Company. Upon adoption of the 2003 plan, the Company terminated the 1993 Plan, subject
to the remaining outstanding option grants.

In 1996, the Company adopted the Nonemployee Director Stock Option Plan (the !‘Director Plan”) which
provides for the grant of options to nonemployee directors of the Company. In June 2001, the Board of Directors
of the Company amended the Director Plan, to increase the number of shares authorized for issuance under the
Director Plan to 200,000 shares and to revise the annual awards to provide for an option to purchase $100,000 of
the Company’s common stock and a restricted stock grant for'$10,000 of the Company’s common stock. In June
2001, the Board granted each nonemployee director an option to purchase 7,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock and a restricted stock grant for 1,000 shares of common stock outside the Director. Plan. In August
2002, the Board granted a new nonemployee director an option to purchase 3,709 shares of the Company’s
common stock and a restricted stock grant for 371 shares of common stock outside the Director Plan.
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Option activity under the Plan, Director Plan and to nonemployee directors outside the Director,Plan is as .
follows: o

.. ' Weighted : .
Number of Average
C e et . ) ) Options  Exercise Price
Balance at Septémber 30,2000 ... ....... e S SR 3,159,948 $13.55
Granted (weighted average fair‘::v'.alue_ovf’v$2..95). G e PR e, 576,750 6.85
Exercised .............. R N S (40,939) 2.75
Cancelled . ....... ..ot P (801,200) . 13.15.°
Balance at September 29,2001 . ........ ... .. ..., R . 2,894,559 ‘ ‘12.48
Granted (weighted average fair value of- $3.54) . .:....... ... . et . 1,179,488 ... 8.78
Exercised .................. e e e e e .(462,621)  ,11.22
Cancelled . ... i e e (783,260) . 14.19
Balance at September 28, 2002 ... .. AT e 2,828,166  10.66
Granted (weighted average fair value of $6.76) e . 564,038 21.72
Exercised .............. e (899,250) 9.58
Cancelled ...... ... .. . . it R (383,624) 18.71
Balance at September 27,2003 ... . . .. D 2,109,330 | 1248
Exercisable at September 29, 2001 . ... ...\ \eiii e, . 1,391,644  15.03
Exercisable at'Septeriiber 28, 2002 ...% .00\ il s i AU ' 996,821 ' 1425
Exercisable at September 27, 2003 ... .. é e e 438238 1043
) ‘bptium 6ut;mndmg : ) Opﬁom Exercisjable
R September 27, 2003 ) September 27, 2003
_ Weighted Average o .
: R - Remaining ) B ‘ e Lo
* Range of Number of Qptions Contractual Weighted Average Number of Options Weighted Average
Exercise Prices . .. Outstanding . Life (Years) . Exercise Price 7 Exercisable Exercise Price
$130-%4.99 - 19,656 _.; 1.2 $ 130 © 19,656 $ 130
-5.00-9.99 - -, 1,087,990 . 1.6 . 7.54 237,133 744 .
~10.00 - 14.99 -+ 346,209 5.0 1290 82,236 13.21 . .
15.00-19.99 - 119,487 14 Cg 16.08 87,153 15.83
20.00 - 2499 . 529,988 -35 21.75 6,060 21.99 -
..:25.00-30.00 .. 6,000 . 06 30.00 - 6,000 - - 3000
$1.30 - $30.00 2,109,330 - 26 T $12.48 © 438,238 - $10.43
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11. Eamiriés Per-Share -

The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted earnings per—'
sha_re (EPS) computations:

Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended
September 27, 2003 September 28, 2002 . September 29, 2001 -
. Per X Per ) Per
L I . Income . Shares Share Loss - - Shares Share. . Loss Shares Share
) . (in thousands, except per share amounts)
Basic EPS: , :
Net income (loss) R
available to common . o " o S ’ )
" shareholdérs .‘l veie.. . 934641 19327 $1.79  $(83,692)- 18,581 --$(4.50) - $(7,143) 18,402 . $(0.39)

Options to purchase o
common stock ... ;.. .. — 754 — 321 -,

Convertible notes . .. . . ... — — 4,470 4,107
Diluted EPS: ‘ ' T —_—

Net income (lo'ss');)'»
. attributed to common
““shareholders'. ... :.... $34,641 20,081 $1.73 $(79,222) 23,009 $(3.44) $(7,143) 18,402 $(0:39)

_Shares from the assumed conversion of the Company’s convertible securities and:exercise of certain options
to purchase cormmon stock were not included in the computation of diluted EPS for ﬁscal 2003 or 2001 as the
impact would haye been anti-dilutive. The convertible securities were retired during the second quarter of fiscal
year 2003 and were only outstanding for part of fiscal year 2003. Although the assumed conversion of such items
was anti-dilutive during fiscal 2002, 4,107,143 of the Company’s convertible securities were included in the
computation of diluted EPS as required by SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share;” which requires net income
before the cumulauve effect of accountmg change to be used for measurement purposes of dilution.

Optlons to purchase 2; 109 330 shares of common stock at prices ranging from $1 30 to $30.00 per share
were outstanding at September 27, 2003. Of these shares, 6,148 were not included in the computation of diluted
earnings per share because the option exercise prices were greater than the average market price of the common
sharés and, therefore, the effect of including these options would be anti-dilutive. Options to purchase 2,828,166
shares of common stock at prices ranging from $1.30 to $33.94 per share were outstanding at September 28; °
2002. Of these shares, 848,803 were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the
option exercise prices were greater than the-dverage market price of the common shares and, therefore, the effect
of including these options would be anti-dilutive. Options to purchase 2,894,559 shares of comnmon stock at
prices ranging from $1.30 to $33.94 per share were outstanding at September 29, 2001 but were not included in
the computation of diluted earnings per share because the assumed exercise would have been anti-dilutive.
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12. Quarterly Financial Data - unaudited

Fiscal 2003
1t Quarter 2°¢ Quarter 3rd Quarter 4% Quarter

(in thousands; except pér share amounts)

Sales ..... P e $211,936  $330,509 © $345,115 $257,441

Gross profit ........... E P T 61,218 99,090 102,207 70,924
Net income (loss) ~...... P (717) - 13,529 17,230 - 4,599
Net income (loss) per common equivalent share: . '
Basic .............. e e B $ 004 $ 070 § 08 § 023
Diluted . ........... .28 (004 S 068 3 08 $ 023
Weighted average common equivalent shares outstanding: o
Basic .......... .. e P 19,060 19,234 19,357 19,673
Diluted ...l e i SRUE © 119,060 20,009 20,137~ 20415
' : . Fiscal 2002

1st Quarter 27 Quarter 3 Quarter 4t Quarter

(in thousands, except per.share amounts)-

Sales ..ooooon o o $ 210,659 $290,693 $335,609 .$240,819

Gross Profit . ... it e 61,502 90,900 100,978 66,963
Net income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting . . .
change ...:......... e e e o (1,509).. 10,936 - 18,367 751

Net income (loss) .. ... e G e (113,746) 10,936 - 18,367 751
Net income (loss) per common equivilent share before I ' '
cumulative effect of accounting change: e o

Basic.......... S L. 8 (008) $7 059

: ERES $ 099 $ 0.04

Diluted ............ e e $ (008 $ 053 $ 084 $ 004
~ Net income (loss) per common equivalent share:
Basic......... FT e e o8 w1 $ 059 $ 099 3 004
Diluted .......... AR e e $ (17) 8. 053 § 084 § 0.04
Weighted average common equivalent shares outstanding:

BasiC ... 18,446 18,469 18,579 18,820
Diluted ...................... e e 18,446 22,734 23,200 19,141

13, Transactions with Related Parties

During fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001, subsidiaries of the Company purchased $2.4 million, $2.5 million and
$2.1 million, respectively, of products from Bio Plus, Inc., a company that produces granular peanut hulls. As of
September 27, 2003 and September 28, 2002, the Company owed Bio Plus, Inc. $75,581 and $78,053,
respectively, for such purchases. Such amounts were included in accounts payable as of that date. A director and
executive officer of the Company is a minority shareholder and a director of Bio Plus, Inc.

14. Business Segment Data

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information
is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or decision making group, in
deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Company’s chief operating decision
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making group is comprised of the Chief Executive Officer and the lead executives of each of thé Company’s
operating segments. The lead executive for each operating segment is also a member of a Strategy Board that
manages the profitability of each respective segment’s various product lines and business. The operating
segments are managed separately because each segment represents a strategic business unit that offers different
products or services. The chief operating decision making group evaluates performance based on profit or loss
from operations. The Company’s Corporate division is included in the presentation of reportable segment _
information since certain revenues and expenses of this division are not allocated separately to the two operating
segments. Segment assets exclude cash equivalents, short-term investments, deferred taxes and goodwill.

Management has determined that the reportable segments of the Company are Pet Products and Garden
Products based on the level] at which the chief operating decision making group reviews the results of operations
to make decisions regarding performance assessment and resource allocation.

. The Pet Products segment consists of Four Paws Products TFH Publications, Wellmark, Kaytee, Island
Aquarium and All-Glass Agquarium. These companies are engaged in the manufacturing, delivery and sale of pet
supplies, books and food principally to independent pet distributors and retailers, national specialty pet stores,
mass merchants and bookstores. The Pet Products segment is also a distributor of pet supply products. This
segment also operates distribution centers in various states. Their products are sold to independent retailers,
national retail chains, grocery stores and mass merchants.

The Garden Products segment consists of Pennington Seed, Matthews Four Seasons, Grant’s, Norcal
Pottery, AMBRANDS and Lilly Miller. Products manufactured or designed and sourced are products found
typically in the lawn and garden sections of mass merchandisers, warehouse-type clubs, home improvement
centers and nurseries and include grass seed, bird feed, clay pottery, outdoor wooden planters and trellises, ant
control and animal repellents. These products are sold directly to retailers and to distributors. The Garden
Products segment is also a distributor. of lawn and garden products. This segment also operates distribution
centers in various states. Their products.are sold to independent retailers, national retail chains, grocery stores
and mass merchants. ' '

The Corporate division includes expenses associated with corporate functions and projects, certain |

employee benefits, goodwill amortization and impairments, interest income, interest expense and intersegment
eliminations.
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Financial information relating to the Company’s: business segments for each of the three most recent fiscal -

years is presented in the table below.

- 2002

2003 2001

o S e L el ‘. - e . : : (in thousands)

Net sales: - s
Pet Products . ... cov ottt i i e "% 501,652 % 471,077 $ 476,013
Garden Products ....... ... 643,349 606,703 . 646,986

Total netsales .. ... .. e $1,145,001 - $1,077,780 $1,122,999

Income (loss) from operations before other charges: .

Pet Products .. ... i e e e $ 52,677 $ 43386 $ 34,846
Garden Products . ... i 39,347 - 37,257 12,667
Corporate ehrmnatlons andallother ..............0 ........ (19, 683)- - (27,879 (33,451

Total income from operatlons before other charges .................. 72,341 52,764 14,062
Interest expense ... ... (19,747) (14,745) (23,247)
IMETeSt iNCOME ...ttt ettt e et e 545 137 164
OtheriNCOMmE . . ... ot e e e e 2,522 5,548 1,631
Income taxes ... ... (21,020) (15,159) 247

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change ......... 34,641 28,545 7,143)

Cumulatlve effect of accounting change netoftax ................. : —_ (112,237) —

Net income (loss) .:. .. T B T L S AL $ 34641 $ (83,692) $ (7,143)

Assets: - ’
Pet Products . . ... oot e $ 208,703 $ 201,051
Garden Products .. ..o e e 281,679. 254,903
Corporate, eliminations and all. other ........................... 338,716 276,003

Total @SSEtS ..\t e "$ 829,098 $ 731,957

Depreciation and amomzatmn
Pet Products . ... ... D P $ 11985 $ 11,589 $ 10,758
SGarden Prodicts . .. on ot e e 5,352 5,456 6,185
LOa T4 -1 (P 541 571 - 11,419

Total depreciation and amortization .. ......:..co.vueeiinnnean.. $ 17878 $§ 17616 $ 28,362

Expenditures for l()ng-lived‘ jésse"trs‘; - '

2 PetProducts ............ T $ 13,906 $ 7043 $ 7,206
Garden Products ... e e 3,456 2,462 . 5,111
TCOIPOTALE L. e i e e 596 1,402 1,571

Total expenditures for long-lived.assets . . .. ..............00.... $ 17958 $ 10,907 §$ 13,888
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15. Consolidating Condensed Financial Information of Guarantor Subsidiaries

Certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company (as listed below, collectively the “Guarantor
Subsidiaries™) have guaranteed fully and unconditionally, on a joint and several basis, the obligation to pay
principal and interest under the Company’s $150,000,000 9 ¥2% Senior Subordinated Notes (the “Notes”) issued
on January 30, 2003. Certain subsidiaries and operating divisions are not guarantors of the Notes and have been
included in the financial results of the Parent in the information below. Those subsidiaries that are guarantors of
the Notes are as follows: '

Four Paws Products Ltd.

Grant Laboratories, Inc.

Kaytee Products, Incorporated

Matthews Redwood & Nursery Supply, Inc.

Pennington Seed, Inc. (including Phaeton Corporation (dba Unicorn Labs), Pennington Seed, Inc. of
Nebraska, Gro Tec, Inc., Seeds West, Inc., All-Glass Aquarium Co., Inc. (including Oceanic Systems,
Inc.))

T.F.H. Publications, Inc.

Wellmark International

Norcal Pottery Products, Inc.

In lieu of providing separate audited financial statements for the Guarantor Subsidiaries, the Company has
included the accompanying audited consolidating condensed financial statements based on the Company’s
understanding of the Securities and Exchange Commission’s interpretation and application of Rule 3-10 of the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s Regulation S-X.

CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Fiscal Year Ended September 27, 2003
(in thousands)

Unconsolidated
Guarantor
. ] Parent Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Netsales ..ot e e $376,217 $844,933  $(76,149) $1,145,001
Cost of goods sold and occupancy ...t 278,457 608,895 (75,796) . 811,562
Grossprofit (10sS) ... ..o 97,760, 236,038 (359) 333,439
Selling, general and administrative expenses ............. 97,260 163,838 — 261,098
" Income (loss) from operations ..................... 500 72,200 (359 72,341
Interest—met ........ .. (18,314) (888) — (19,202)
Other income. .......... PR - 741 1,781 — 2,522
- Income (loss} before INCOME taXes . ... .................. (17,073) 73,093 (359) 55,661
INCOME taXES . . oottt (6,127) 27,280 (133) 21,020
Net income (loss) before equity in undistributed income of
guarantor subsidiaries . . ........ ... . . o i (10,946) 45,813 (226) 34,641
Equity in undistributed income of guarantor subsidiaries . . .. 45,587 —_ (45,587) —
Netincome (JOSS) ... oo v e $ 34,641 $ 45813  $(45,813) $ 34,641
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CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED STATEMENT. OF OPERATIONS
Fiscal Year Ended September 28, 2002
_ (in thousands)

. Unconsolidated
- Guarantor
C S R ) Parent Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
NEESAlES ..ottt $373,475 $774,059  $(69,754) $1,077,780
Cost of goods sold and occupancy ................. I 285,356 542 040 - (69,959) . 757,437
Gross profit ;. ...... i, PR . 88,119 232,019 205 - 320,343
Sellmg ‘general and adnumstratlve expenses..' ............ . 104,563. . 163016 . — . . 267579
* Income (loss) froim operatlons e il . (16444) 69003 © 0 <205 52,764
Interest —net’. i .. .... R o S (12,203) (2,405) . so— .. (14,608)
Other income (expense) ...%........ R o 2D JTTI9 0 — et 5,548
Income (loss) before income taxes and cumulatlve effect of ' SRR v : ’ o o o
accounting change . . . .. e . (30,818) - 74,317- 205 * 43,704
INCOME tAXES vvvv v v v vve e i e e (12,250) 727,327 82 15,159
Income (loss) before cimulative.effect of Accounting - : : B
change ........ ... L - (18,568) .. 46,990 123 28,545
Cumulative effect of .accounting.change, netof tax .. ... oo (112,237) — = (1_12,237)
Net income (loss) before equlty in und1str1buted income of . - ST C
guarantor subsidiaries . ..t L S T o (130,805) 46,990. - 123 . (83 692)
Equity. in undistributed income of guarantor sub51d1anes cae 47,113 — (47,113). - —

Net income (loss) ....... I e $ (83,692) $ 46,990 . $(46,990) $ (83 692)

CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
“* Fiscal Year Ended September 29, 2001 -
(in thousands)

Unconsolidated
Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Netsales .. .ooo i i e i e $431,138 $751,757  $(59,896) $1,122,999
Cost of goods sold and occupancy ...................... 329,958 541,397 (60,169) 811,186
Gross profit . ... ..ot e 101,180 210,360 273 311,813
Selling, general and administrative expenses ............. 133,364 164,387 — 297,751
Income (loss) from operations ..................... (32,184) 45,973 273 14,062
Interest—met ...t (17,523) (5,560) — (23,083)
Otherincome .. ...t i i 479 1,152 —_ 1,631
Income (loss) before incometaxes . ............. ... (49,228) 41,565 273 (7,390)
INCOmME taXeS . ..ot te et et e (16,983) 16,626 110 (247)
Net income (loss) before equity in undistributed income of
guarantor subsidiaries . . ........ .. . e (32,245) 24,939 163 (7,143)
Equity in undistributed income of guarantor subsidiaries . . .. 25,102 —_— (25,102) —_
Netincome (JOSS) . v v et it ie et ce et $ (7,143) $ 24939 $(24939) $ (7,143)




CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET

* September 27, 2003
(in thousands)

Unconsolidated
Guarantor
. Parent Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
DR o - L ASSETS ., . . ‘ . . :
Cash and equivalents ..... PP N $76354 $ 1250 $ — % 77,604
Accounts receivable ................ e 43,209 113,415  (10,549) 146,075
Inventories ....... EERTT S e 55,718 161438... = — - .217,156
Prepaid expenses and other assets ........... S 10,198 5024 — 15,222
.o+ -« Total current-assets ... ......... e 185,479 281,127 (10,549) 456,057
Land, buildings, improvements and equipment, net ........ 10,092 . 91446 - . — 101,538
Goodwilt .......... A e, 222;780. — I 222,780
Investment in guarantors ............... e ... 281,522 —_ (281,522) —
Deferred income taxes and other assets .................. 47,607 1,116 — 48,723
Total ....... e e [ - $747.480 v$373,689 $(292,071) $829,098
’ ' LIABILITIES : .

Accounts payable ........... S $ 53,024 $ 62,628 $ (10,549)  $105,103
Accrued expenses and other liabilities . ............ e - 20,131 27,958 — 48,089
Total current liabilities ........... e 73,155 90,586 . (10,549) 153,192
Long-termdebt .......... FU P N e « 249,200 .25 — 249225
Other long-term obligations - . . ... ... S 29 1,556 — 1,585
Total shareholders’ equity .............. ... ... .. ..., 425,096 281,522 (281,522) 425,096

Total .......... e e eeeieiel ... 8747480 $373,689  $(292,071)  $829,098
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CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET |

SEPTEMBER 28,2002
(m thousands)

Unconsolidated
Guarantor
. Parent Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
, _ ASSETS. ) . N ‘

Cashandequivalents ..............c.coviiiiinnninnns $ 10,080' $ 804 % — $.10;884
Accounts receivable . .. .. P 41,002 103,087 (13,105) ‘ 130,984
Inventories ..................... ..., e 52,417 140,742 - 193,159
Prepaxd expenses and other asgets ........ R s 21 046_ 5,050 — . 26,096
- Total current assets . ... . .......c.. ... S 124,545 | 249,683 (13,105) 361,123
Land, buildings, 1mprovements and equlpment net ........ 12,191 88,673 - — 100,364
Goodwill .................... ... i To... 222489 T — S— 222,489

Investment in guarantors ............ P 212,738 —  (212,738) —
Deferred income taxes and other assets .................. 35070 714,347 (1,936) 47,481
SOl e e ... $607,033 $352,703 $(227,779) = $731,957

 LIABILITIES .. = L o
Notes payable ................ S L. $33992 §$25983 §  — § 59975
chounts payable ........ . : e : 52,‘606‘ . 57;295 (13,105) ~ 96,796
Accrued expenses and other Habilities ... 0.~ .....0...0000 T 22437 27898 000 — 50,335
Total current liabilities . i oo .. ciie v eeeeeeeo. 109,035° 111,176 ° (13,105) 207,106
Long-termdebt ............ ... ... ... . i, 120,387 24,944 — 145,331
Other long-term obhgatlons P 103 3,845 - (1,936) 2,012
Equlty ..... Uo. 377,508 7 212,738 212,738) 377,508
TOtAl oot io.oa. $607,033  $352,703  $(227,779) $731,957
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CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

September 27, 2003
(in thousands)

Unconsolidated
Guarantor

. . . Parent Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Net cash provided by operating activities ................ $ 4,137 $47,065 $— $ 51,202
Expendltures for land, bulldmgs improvements and ‘

equlpment e e e e e (1,987) (15,971) —_ (17,958)
Payments to acquire companies, net of cash acquired . . . ... (4,614) —_ —_ ' (4,614)
Investment in QUATANLOT ... ........vruneerennnnnnn... (22,971) 22971 @ — - ‘ —
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities .......... (29,572) 7,000 - (22,572)
Repayments under lines of credit, net . . . .. e L. (33992) (25983) @ — (59,975)
Payments on long-term debt ............ e . (125,035) (27,636) — _(152,_671)
Proceeds from issuance of long-termdebt ............... 250,000 — — 250,000
Proceeds from issuance of stock ....................... 8,070 —_ —_ 8,070
Deferred financing costs .. ..... e e (7,334) — — (7,334)
Net_ cash providefi (used) by financing ac;tivities e 91,709 (53,619) —_ 38,090
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents . e . 66,274 446 — 66,720
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period ......... 10,080 804 = — 10,884
Cash and cash equivalents atend of period .............. $ 76,354 $§ 1,250 Cs— $ 77,604

 CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
September 28, 2002
* (in thousands)

Unconsolidated
Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net cash provided by operating activities ................. $ 11,190 $ 61,623 $— $ 72,813
Expenditures for land, buildings, improvements and

eQUIDMENT . . ... e (2,186) (8,721) — (10,907)
Investment in guarantor ................. ... . ... .. ... 41,638 (41,638) — —_
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities ........... 39,452 (50,359) — (10,907)
Repayments under lines of credit,net .. .................. (49,069) (10,379) — (59,448)
Payments on long-termdebt . .......................... 4,531) (1,220) — (5,751)
Proceeds from issuance of stock ........................ 5,885 — — 5,885
Net cash used by financing activities .................... (47,715)  (11,599) — (59,314)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .. ...... 2,927 (335 — 2,592
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period .......... 7,153 1,139 — 8,292
Cash and cash equivalents atend of period ,.............. $10080 $ 804 $— $ 10,884
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CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
September 29, 2001 ‘
(in thousands)

Unconsolidated
: .. Guarantor
L ) Parent Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities ......... . $19951 $18863 $— $ 38,814
Expenditures for land, buildings, improvements and , .
equipment ..................... e (579 (13,309) —_ (13,888)
Payments to acquire companies, net of cash acquired ....... — (18,277) — (18,277)
Investment in guarantor ........ S 19916 . (19,916) . — —
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities ........... 19,337 (51,502) _— (32,165)
Borrowings (repayments) under lines of credit,net ......... (32,014) 22,198 —_ (9,816)
Payments on long-termdebt . ................ ... ... .. .. 4,234) (8,610) — (12,844)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt ......... e — 18,000 — 18,000
Proceeds from issuance of stock ........................ 618 — — 618
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities ........... (35,630) - 31,588 — (4,042)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .. .... .. 3,658 - (1,051). — 2,607
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period .......... 3,495 2,190 — 5,685

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ............... $ 7,153 $ 1,139 $—

65

$ 8292



Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer have reviewed, as of the end of the period covered by this report, the “disclosure controls and
procedures” (as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Rules 13a-14(c) and 15d-14(c)) that ensure that
information relating to the company required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported in a timely and proper manner. Based upon this
review, we believe that there are adequate controls and procedures in place to ensure that information relating to
the company that is required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we: file or submit under the Exchange Act is
properly dlsclosed as required by the Exchange Act and related regulatlons

(b) Changes in internal controls. There were no significant changes in our internal control over financial-
reporting that occurred during our last fiscal year that has materially atfected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant
We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to all of our executwe officers and directors, a copy -of which
is filed as Exhibit 14 to this Form 10-K.”

' The remaining information required by this item is incorporated by reference from Central’s Definitive
Proxy Statement for its 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions “Election of Directors,” “Audit
Committee Financial Expert” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.” See also Item 1
above.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from Central’s Definitive Proxy
Statement for its 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption “Executive Compensation.”

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from Central’s Definitive Proxy
Statement for its 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions “Ownership of Management and
Principal Stockholders” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information.”

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from Central’s Definitive Proxy
Statement for its 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions “Compensation Committee Interlocks
and Insider Participation” and “Transactions with the Company.”

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from Central’s Definitive Proxy
Statement for its 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption “Principal Accountant Fees and
Services.”
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PART IV

Item 15, .. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form §8-K
(a) The following documents are filed as ‘part of this report:

(1) Consolidated Financial Statements of Central Garden & Pet Company are included in Part II,
Item 8:

Independent Aﬁditors’ Report

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidéted Statements of Income

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders” Equity
Consolidated Statements of Césh Flows R
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

All other schedules are omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they are required or
because the required information is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(2) Exhibits:
See attached Exhibit Index.
(b) We did not file any report on 'Fonﬁ .SFI'( during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003.
We furnished the following report on F_érm 8-K during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003:

+  Form 8-K furnished August 5, 2003 relating to our earnings release for the quarter ended
June 28, 2003.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section-13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: December 10, 2003

CENTRAL GARDEN & PET COMPANY

By /s/  GLENN W. NOVOTNY

Glenn W. Novotny
. Chief Executive Officer, President and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchahge Act of 1934, this reporf h.as been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated.

Signature

/s GLENN W.NOVOTNY

Glenn W. Novotny

/s/  STGART W. BOoOTH

Stuart W. Booth

/s/ JonN B. BALOUSEK

John B. Balousek

/s/ WiLLIaM E. BROWN

William E. Brown

/s/  DAVID N. CHICHESTER

David N. Chichester

/s/ DANIEL P. HoGaN, JRr. .

Daniel P. Hogan, Jr.

/s/ BROOKS M. PENNINGTON, IIT

Brooks M. Pennington, II1

/s/ BRUCE A. WESTPHAL

Bruce A. Westphal

Capacity -

- Chief Executive Officer, President and

Director (Principal Executive
Officer)

Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial Officer
. and Principal Accounting Officer)
Director
Chairman
Director
Director

Director

Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Set forth below is a list of exhibits that are being filed or incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K:

Exhibit
Number . Exhibit

3.1 Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1
~ to Registration Statement No. 33-98544).

3.1.1 Certificate of Amendment of Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (Incorporated
by reference from Exhibit 3.1.1 to Registration Statement No. 333-46437).

3.2 - Copy of Registrant’s Bylaws (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to Registration Statement No.
33-48070).

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to Registration
Statement No. 33-48070).

4.2 Indenture dated as of January 30, 2003 between the Company, Wells Fargo and the Subsidiary
Guarantors name therein (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to Registration Statement on
Form S-4 No. 333-103835).

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and Executive Officers and Directors
: (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.18 to Registration Statement No. 33-48070).

10.2 = Credit Agreement dated May 14, 2003, between the Company and Canadian Imperial Bank of
Commerce et al. (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 28, 2003.

10.3 Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of December 5, 1997 among the Company and the shareholders of
' T.F.H. Publications, Inc. (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 1.2 to the Company’s Report on Form
8-K/A dated December 18, 1997)

104 1993 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (Incorporated by reference from Exhibits 4.1 to the
Company’s Registration Statements Nos. 33-7236, 33-89216, 333-1238 and 333-41931).

10.5 2003 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 29, 2003).

10.6  Nonemployee Director Equity Incentive Plan, as amended June 8, 2001 (Incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended September 29, 2001).

10.7 Employment Agreement dated as of Fébruary 27, 1998 between Pennington Seed, Inc. of Delaware and
Brooks Pennington III (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Form 10-K/A
for the fiscal year ended September 26, 1998).

10.8 Modification and Extension of Employment Agreement dated as of February 27, 1998 between
Pennington Seed, Inc. of Delaware and Brooks Pennington III, dated as of May 6, 2003 (Incorporated
by reference from Exhibit 10.7.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 28, 2003).

12 Statement re Computation of Ratios of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
14 Code of Ethics.

21 List of Subsidiaries.

23 Independent Auditors’ Consent.

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.
322 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.
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